Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: January 22, 2014 REVISED: April 23, 2014 ACCEPTED: May 12, 2014 PUBLISHED: June 26, 2014

A precision study of the fine tuning in the DiracNMSSM

Anna Kaminska,^a Graham G. Ross,^b Kai Schmidt-Hoberg^c and Florian Staub^d

^aDeutsches Elektronen-Synchrotron DESY,

Notkestraße 85, D-22607 Hamburg, Germany

^c Theory Division, CERN,

1211 Geneva 23, Switzerland

^dBethe Center for Theoretical Physics & Physikalisches Institut der Universität Bonn, Nußallee 12, 53115 Bonn, Germany

E-mail: anna.kaminska@fuw.edu.pl, g.ross1@physics.ox.ac.uk, kai.schmidt-hoberg@cern.ch, fnstaub@th.physik.uni-bonn.de

ABSTRACT: Recently the DiracNMSSM has been proposed as possible solution to reduce the fine tuning in supersymmetry. We determine the degree of fine tuning needed in the DiracNMSSM with and without non-universal gaugino masses and compare it with the fine tuning in the GNMSSM. To apply reasonable cuts on the allowed parameter regions we perform a precise calculation of the Higgs mass in the DiracNMSSM. In addition, we include the limits from direct SUSY searches, dark matter abundance and direct searches. We find that both models are comparable in terms of fine tuning, with the minimal fine tuning in the GNMSSM slightly smaller.

KEYWORDS: Supersymmetry Phenomenology

ARXIV EPRINT: 1401.1816



^bRudolf Peierls Centre for Theoretical Physics, University of Oxford, 1 Keble Road, Oxford OX1 3NP, U.K.

Contents

1	Introduction	2			
2	The DiracNMSSM	3			
	2.1 The superpotential and soft-breaking terms	3			
	2.2 Particle content after EWSB	4			
	2.3 The Higgs sector	5			
	2.3.1 The Higgs mass at tree level	5			
	2.3.2 Radiative corrections to the Higgs mass	7			
3	Fine tuning and precision calculations	8			
	3.1 Fine tuning measure	8			
	3.2 Fine tuning calculation	10			
4	Exploring the DiracNMSSM vs. the GNMSSM				
	4.1 Universal gaugino masses	13			
	4.2 Non-universal gaugino masses	17			
5	Summary and conclusions	20			
\mathbf{A}	A Renormalisation group equations				
	A.1 Anomalous dimensions	22			
	A.2 Gauge couplings	22			
	A.3 Gaugino mass parameters	22			
	A.4 Trilinear superpotential parameters	23			
	A.5 Bilinear superpotential parameters	23			
	A.6 Trilinear soft-breaking parameters	23			
	A.7 Bilinear soft-breaking parameters	24			
	A.8 Linear soft-breaking parameters	24			
	A.9 Soft-breaking scalar masses	25			
	A.10 Vacuum expectation values	27			
в	Mass matrices	27			
\mathbf{C}	Vertices	28			
	C.1 Interactions with Fermions	29			
	C.2 Three scalar interactions	29			
	C.3 Four scalar interactions	31			
D	• The Higgs sector of the DiracNMSSM at the loop leve	el 32			

1 Introduction

The discovery of the Higgs boson with a mass of about 125 GeV [1, 2] has a strong impact on the parameter range of supersymmetric models. In particular in the Constrained Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model (CMSSM) large regions of the parameter space are not consistent with this mass range and a large mass splitting in the stop sector is needed to push the tree level mass $m_h \leq M_Z$ to that level. The fine tuning needed to achieve this mass is large, requiring a cancellation between uncorrelated parameters of order 1 part in 300. In the more general context of the MSSM one still requires 1% fine tuning even for an extremely low messenger scale of 10 TeV [3].¹ In addition, it has recently been pointed out that those regions in parameter space which could explain the Higgs mass by a rather light SUSY spectrum together with maximal mixing in the stop sector have only a metastable electroweak vacuum while in the global vacuum charge and color are broken [4–6].

To accommodate a heavier Higgs while avoiding very large fine tuning and the need of radiative corrections of about 35 GeV requires new structure. The most widely studied solution is an enhancement of the Higgs mass already at tree level by new F- or D-term contributions [7–11]. In singlet extensions the mass of the SM-like Higgs is at tree-level roughly given by $m_h^2 \simeq M_Z^2 \left(\cos^2 2\beta + \frac{\lambda^2}{g^2} \sin^2 2\beta\right)$ and becomes maximal for $\tan \beta \sim 2$ and for a large coupling λ between the singlet and Higgs fields. The most common singlet extension is the Next-to-Minimal-Supersymmetric-Standard-Model (NMSSM, see e.g. [8] for a review) which assumes an underlying \mathbb{Z}_3 symmetry. As expected the fine tuning in the NMSSM gets significantly reduced in comparison to the MSSM [12–16].

However, other singlet extensions fare even better in terms of fine tuning. Based on an operator analysis it could be expected that singlet extensions leading to certain operators are favoured [17, 18]. One option to generate the necessary operators is an underlying R symmetry, \mathbb{Z}_4^R or \mathbb{Z}_8^R . After supersymmetry breaking, both the singlet mass and the μ term are generated but both are constrained to be of order the supersymmetry breaking mass [19, 20]. The resulting model is therefore a generalised version of the NMSSM (GNMSSM) [21]. Indeed it was found that the fine tuning in the GNMSSM becomes even better than in the NMSSM [21-23], see also [24, 25]. In addition, the symmetry underlying the GNMSSM has the appealing feature that it forbids dangerous dimension 5 proton decay operators and does not lead to the domain wall problem of the NMSSM [26]. Other phenomenologically interesting aspects of the GNMSSM include a possible enhancement of the diphoton decay rate of the Higgs boson [27] as well as a potential simultaneous explanation of the Fermi line at 130 GeV [28]. Such signals however would require λ to become non-perturbative well below the scale of a grand unified theory (GUT), making an interpretation in terms of an underlying GUT model difficult, see however [29]. In this article we will assume an underlying GUT structure and a fully perturbative extrapolation to the GUT scale.

An idea to reduce the fine tuning even further has recently been proposed in ref. [30], where it has been argued that a very natural extension of the MSSM is the DiracNMSSM

¹Note that this definition of fine tuning differs from ours in the choice of the measure and the fact that the parameters are taken to be low-scale parameters.

with two additional singlets. The main motivation for the second singlet \bar{S} was a possible mixed ('Dirac') mass term, $M_s S\bar{S}$ which allows for very heavy singlets without a suppression of the tree-level F-term contribution to the Higgs mass while keeping the soft SUSY breaking terms small. As the soft mass squared of the NMSSM singlet feeds into the soft Higgs masses, this was argued to eliminate this source of fine tuning. The first study of the fine tuning in the DiracNMSSM was based on a rough fine tuning measure including only parameters at the electroweak scale which takes the impact of the RGEs only crudely into account. In addition, the estimate of the Higgs mass was subject to large theoretical uncertainties and the constraints from SUSY searches as well as dark matter abundance were not included. In this work we perform a full numerical study of the fine tuning in the DiracNMSSM using state of the art computer tools. To this end we implemented the DiracNMSSM in SARAH to produce a corresponding version of SPheno— a state of the art spectrum calculator. Our estimate of the fine tuning is based on a full two-loop running of the renormalisation group equations and we perform a precise mass calculation in the Higgs sector. The dark matter abundance and direct detection cross sections are calculated with MicrOmegas.

We proceed as follows: in section 2 we introduce the DiracNMSSM and discuss the Higgs sector in some detail. In section 3 we give details about the fine tuning calculation and present our numerical results in section 4. We conclude in section 5. In the appendix we present all renormalisation group equations, mass matrices and vertices which are changed in comparison to the MSSM and explain in great detail the renormalisation of the CP even Higgs sector in the DiracNMSSM.

2 The DiracNMSSM

2.1 The superpotential and soft-breaking terms

In the DiracNMSSM one adds two chiral singlet superfields S and \overline{S} to the MSSM with superpotential

$$\mathcal{W} = \mathcal{W}_{\text{MSSM}} + \lambda S H_u H_d + M_s S \bar{S} + \xi_s S + \xi_{\bar{s}} \bar{S} .$$
(2.1)

The general soft SUSY breaking terms associated with the Higgs and singlet sectors are

$$V_{\text{soft}} = m_s^2 |s|^2 + m_{\bar{s}}^2 |\bar{s}|^2 + m_{h_u}^2 |h_u|^2 + m_{h_d}^2 |h_d|^2 + (b\mu h_u h_d + \lambda A_\lambda s h_u h_d + b_s s \bar{s} + t_s s + t_{\bar{s}} \bar{s} + h.c.) .$$
(2.2)

Since the renormalisation group equations (RGEs) for the DiracNMSSM have not been given in the literature before we list the β -functions for all superpotential and soft-breaking parameters as well as all gauge couplings and vacuum expectation values (VEVs) up to two loop in appendix A.

2.2 Particle content after EWSB

After electroweak symmetry breaking (EWSB) the complex scalars in the Higgs sector acquire VEVs and they are decomposed in their neutral components as

$$h_d^0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(v_d + \phi_d + i\sigma_d \right) , \qquad h_u^0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(v_u + \phi_u + i\sigma_u \right) , \qquad (2.3)$$

$$s = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(v_s + \phi_s + i\sigma_s \right) \,, \qquad \bar{s} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(v_{\bar{s}} + \phi_{\bar{s}} + i\sigma_{\bar{s}} \right) \,. \tag{2.4}$$

As usual, the ratio of the two Higgs VEVs is given by $\frac{v_u}{v_d} = \tan \beta$ and $v = \sqrt{v_d^2 + v_u^2} \simeq 246 \text{ GeV}$. The charged Higgs sector is very similar to the MSSM and contains one physical charged Higgs with mass

$$M_{H^+} = \frac{1}{4}v^2(g_2^2 - 2\lambda^2) + \frac{1 + \tan^2\beta}{\tan\beta}B_{\text{eff}} .$$
 (2.5)

Here, we defined

$$B_{\text{eff}} = b\mu + \frac{\lambda}{\sqrt{2}} (M_s v_{\bar{s}} + v_s A_\lambda) \,. \tag{2.6}$$

In the neutral Higgs sector there are four CP even states and three CP odd ones. These fields come together with in total six neutralinos. The neutralino mass matrix is given in the basis $\left(\lambda_{\tilde{B}}, \tilde{W}^0, \tilde{H}_d^0, \tilde{H}_u^0, \tilde{S}, \tilde{S}\right)$ by

$$a_{\tilde{\chi}^{0}} = \begin{pmatrix} M_{1} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}g_{1}v_{d} & \frac{1}{2}g_{1}v_{u} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & M_{2} & \frac{1}{2}g_{2}v_{d} & -\frac{1}{2}g_{2}v_{u} & 0 & 0\\ -\frac{1}{2}g_{1}v_{d} & \frac{1}{2}g_{2}v_{d} & 0 & -\mu_{\text{eff}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_{u}\lambda & 0\\ \frac{1}{2}g_{1}v_{u} & -\frac{1}{2}g_{2}v_{u} & -\mu_{\text{eff}} & 0 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_{d}\lambda & 0\\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_{u}\lambda & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_{d}\lambda & 0 & M_{s}\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & M_{s} & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(2.7)

Here, we introduced

 η

$$\mu_{\rm eff} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} v_s \lambda + \mu \;. \tag{2.8}$$

The matrix which diagonalizes the neutralinos is called N in the following

$$N^* m_{\tilde{\chi}^0} N^\dagger = m_{\tilde{\chi}^0}^{dia} . \tag{2.9}$$

Generically the lightest neutralino which is a good dark matter candidate can be an admixture of the bino, the Higgsinos (in the case of non-universal gaugino masses also the Wino) and the Singlinos. However, we will see that usually large M_s is preferred so that the Singlino component is typically very suppressed.

In the following we will mostly concentrate on the CP even Higgs states. For completeness, all matrices and vertices which are different to the MSSM are listed in appendices B–C.

2.3 The Higgs sector

2.3.1 The Higgs mass at tree level

The four minimum conditions with respect to the CP even scalars introduced in eqs. (2.3)–(2.4) read

$$\Theta_{d} = \frac{\partial V}{\partial \phi_{d}} = +\frac{1}{8} \Big(g_{1}^{2} + g_{2}^{2} \Big) v_{d} \Big(v_{d}^{2} - v_{u}^{2} \Big) + v_{d} \Big(m_{h_{d}}^{2} + |\mu|^{2} + \sqrt{2} v_{s} \Re(\lambda \mu^{*}) + \Big(v_{s}^{2} + v_{u}^{2} \Big) \frac{|\lambda|^{2}}{2} \Big) \\ - v_{u} \Big(\Re(\lambda \xi_{s}^{*}) + \Re\Big(b\mu \Big) + \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \Big(v_{\bar{s}} \Re(\lambda M_{s}^{*}) + v_{s} \Re(\lambda A_{\lambda}) \Big) \Big) = 0$$
(2.10)

$$\Theta_u = \frac{\partial V}{\partial \phi_u} = +\frac{1}{8} \left(g_1^2 + g_2^2 \right) v_u \left(v_u^2 - v_d^2 \right) + v_u \left(m_{h_u}^2 + |\mu|^2 + \sqrt{2} v_s \Re(\lambda \mu^*) + \left(v_d^2 + v_s^2 \right) \frac{|\lambda|^2}{2} \right)$$

$$-v_d \Big(\Re(\lambda \xi_s^*) + \Re \Big(b\mu \Big) + \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \Big(v_{\bar{s}} \Re(\lambda M_s^*) + v_s \Re(\lambda A_\lambda) \Big) \Big) = 0$$
(2.11)

$$\Theta_s = \frac{\partial V}{\partial \phi_s} = \left(v_d^2 + v_u^2\right) \left(v_s \frac{|\lambda|^2}{2} + \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \Re(\mu\lambda^*)\right) + m_s^2 v_s + v_{\bar{s}} \Re(b_s) + |M_s|^2 v_s + \sqrt{2} \Re(M_s^* \bar{\xi}_s) + \sqrt{2} \Re(t_s) - \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} v_d v_u \Re(\lambda A_\lambda) = 0$$

$$(2.12)$$

$$\Theta_{\bar{s}} = \frac{\partial V}{\partial \phi_{\bar{s}}} = |M_s|^2 v_{\bar{s}} + \sqrt{2} \Re(M_s^* \xi_s) - \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} v_d v_u \Re(M_s^* \lambda) + \frac{2}{\sqrt{2}} \Re(t_{\bar{s}}) + m_{\bar{s}}^2 v_{\bar{s}} + v_s \Re\left(b_s\right) = 0$$
(2.13)

where $\Re(a)$ refers to the real part of a. For given input parameters these equations can now in principle be solved for the four vevs $v_d, v_u, v_s, v_{\bar{s}}$. However, given that the electroweak vev is known, $v = \sqrt{v_u^2 + v_d^2} \simeq 246 \text{ GeV}$, it makes sense to use this information and solve for some of the input parameters instead. There are now many reasonable combinations of parameters which can be fixed by these equations. The easiest choice might be to choose the Higgs and singlet soft masses $m_{h_d}^2, m_{h_u}^2, m_s^2$, and $m_{\bar{s}}^2$. However, this assumes automatically that the Higgs soft-terms don't unify with the other scalar soft SUSY masses. A set of parameters which can be consistent with the unification of scalars is $\mu, b\mu, t_s, t_{\bar{s}}$. In the limit of real μ two distinct solutions are found

$$t_{s} = \frac{\mp 1}{8\left(v_{d}^{2} - v_{u}^{2}\right)} \left(\sqrt{2}\left(4v_{s}\left(v_{d}^{2} - v_{u}^{2}\right)(M_{s}^{2} + m_{s}^{2}) + \left(v_{d}^{2} + v_{u}^{2}\right)\sqrt{D}\lambda\right)\right) + \frac{1}{2}\left(v_{d}v_{u}\lambda A_{\lambda} - \sqrt{2}v_{\bar{s}}b_{s}\right)$$
(2.14)

$$t_{\bar{s}} = \frac{1}{2} \Big(M_s v_d v_u \lambda - \sqrt{2} \Big(m_{\bar{s}}^2 v_{\bar{s}} + v_s b_s \Big) - \sqrt{2} M_s^2 v_{\bar{s}} \Big)$$
(2.15)

$$b\mu = \frac{1}{4} \left(2 \left(m_{h_d}^2 - m_{h_u}^2 \right) \frac{2v_d v_u}{v_u^2 - v_d^2} - v_d v_u \left(g_1^2 + g_2^2 - 2\lambda^2 \right) - 2\sqrt{2} \left(M_s v_{\bar{s}} \lambda + v_s \lambda A_\lambda \right) \right)$$
(2.16)

$$\mu = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\lambda v_s \pm \frac{\sqrt{D}}{2\sqrt{2}\left(v_d^2 - v_u^2\right)} \tag{2.17}$$

with

$$\sqrt{D} = \sqrt{\left(v_u^2 - v_d^2\right)\left(\left(g_1^2 + g_2^2\right)\left(v_d^4 - v_u^4\right) + 8m_{h_d}^2 v_d^2 - 8m_{h_u}^2 v_u^2\right)}.$$
 (2.18)

The mass matrix of the CP even Higgs fields is given in the basis $(\phi_d, \phi_u, \phi_s, \phi_{\bar{s}})$ by

$$m_h^2 = \begin{pmatrix} M_D & M_M \\ M_M^T & M_S \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.19)

with 2×2 matrices containing the elements involving only doublets (M_D) or singlets (M_S) as well as the entries linking both sectors:

$$M_D = \begin{pmatrix} m_{\phi_d \phi_d} & m_{\phi_u \phi_d} \\ m_{\phi_u \phi_d} & m_{\phi_u \phi_u} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.20)

$$M_{S} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} \left(v_{d}^{2} + v_{u}^{2} \right) |\lambda|^{2} + m_{s}^{2} + |M_{s}|^{2} & \Re \left(b_{s} \right) \\ & \Re \left(b_{s} \right) & m_{\overline{s}}^{2} + |M_{s}|^{2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.21)

$$M_M = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(2\Re(v_d \lambda \mu^*) - v_u \Re(\lambda A_\lambda) \right) + v_d v_s |\lambda|^2 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} v_u \Re\left(\lambda M_s^*\right) \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(2\Re(v_u \lambda \mu^*) - v_d \Re(\lambda A_\lambda) \right) + v_u v_s |\lambda|^2 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} v_d \Re\left(\lambda M_s^*\right) \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.22)

with

$$m_{\phi_d\phi_d} = |\mu|^2 + \Re(\sqrt{2}v_s\lambda\mu^*) + \frac{1}{2}\left(v_s^2 + v_u^2\right)|\lambda|^2 + \frac{1}{8}\left(g_1^2 + g_2^2\right)\left(3v_d^2 - v_u^2\right) + m_{h_d}^2 \qquad (2.23)$$

$$m_{\phi_d\phi_u} = -\Re(\lambda\xi_s^* + b\mu) + v_d v_u \left(|\lambda|^2 - \frac{1}{4}(g_1^2 + g_2^2)\right) - \frac{\sqrt{2}}{4} \left(2v_{\bar{s}}\Re(\lambda M_s^*) + 2v_s\Re(\lambda A_\lambda)\right) \quad (2.24)$$

$$m_{\phi_u\phi_u} = \frac{1}{2} \Big(2|\mu|^2 + 2\Re(\sqrt{2}v_s\lambda\mu^*) + \Big(v_d^2 + v_s^2\Big)|\lambda|^2 \Big) - \frac{1}{8} \Big(g_1^2 + g_2^2\Big) \Big(v_d^2 - 3v_u^2\Big) + m_{h_u}^2 \,. \tag{2.25}$$

This matrix is diagonalized by Z^H :

,

$$Z^H m_h^2 Z^{H,\dagger} = m_{2,h}^{dia} \,. \tag{2.26}$$

To gain some insight into the mass-dependence of the lightest, SM-like Higgs boson on the different parameters, we can perform a rotation of the tree level Higgs matrix to the basis (h, H, S, \overline{S}) via the rotation matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} \cos\beta & \sin\beta \\ -\sin\beta & \cos\beta \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.27)

In first approximation, the h-H mixing as well as the $h-\bar{S}$ mixing can be neglected and the remaining matrix in the basis (h, S) reads

$$m_{hS} = \begin{pmatrix} M_{hh} & M_{hS} \\ M_{hS} & M_{SS} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.28)

with

$$M_{hh} = M_Z^2 \left(\cos^2 2\beta + \frac{\lambda^2}{g^2} \sin^2 2\beta \right)$$
(2.29)

$$M_{hS} = -\frac{1}{2v} (\lambda \sqrt{D} \sec 2\beta + \sqrt{2}v^2 \lambda A_\lambda) \sin 2\beta$$
(2.30)

$$M_{SS} = M_s^2 + m_s^2 \,. \tag{2.31}$$

 M_{hh} shows already the famous F-term enhancement of the Higgs mass at tree-level. Hence, if we want to make use of this effect to reduce the fine tuning, we have to concentrate on large λ and small tan β . However, this effect can easily be spoiled by the mixing with the singlet-sector coming from M_{hS} which tends to reduce the smaller eigenvalue. Not relying on special cancellations, the natural size of M_{hS} is $\lambda v M_{SUSY}$, which implies that for small mixing M_{SS} should be rather large. The expectation that for the range of interest M_s is in the few TeV range for the correct Higgs mass will be confirmed in our numerical analysis.

2.3.2 Radiative corrections to the Higgs mass

Of course, a tree-level calculation is not sufficient to have a reliable estimate for the Higgs mass. The radiative corrections to the Higgs masses in the NMSSM are discussed in detail in the literature [31–39]. In contrast, studies in the context of extensions of the NMSSM often include just the dominant stop corrections at the 1-loop level but neglect all other, potentially important, effects. However, we are not relying on these approximations but calculate also the Higgs mass in the DiracNMSSM with a precision comparable to the NMSSM: we include all corrections at the one-loop level and the dominant two-loop corrections stemming from (s)tops. Details of the calculation are given in appendix D.

To give an impression of the size of the loop corrections and the dependence on the different input parameters we compare in figure 1 the Higgs mass calculated (i) at tree level, (ii) at one-loop, (iii) at two-loop including stop corrections. For these plots we have solved the tadpole equations with respect to $\{\mu, b\mu, t_s, t_{\bar{s}}\}$ and have used in addition

$$\begin{split} m_0 &= 300 \; {\rm GeV}\,, \quad m_{1/2} &= 800 \; {\rm GeV}\,, \quad \tan\beta = 2.3\,, \qquad A_0 &= -2500 \; {\rm GeV}\,, \\ \lambda &= 1.6\,, \qquad A_\lambda = -100 \; {\rm GeV}\,, \qquad v_s &= 8.3 \; {\rm GeV}\,, \qquad v_{\bar{s}} = 1.5 \; {\rm GeV}\,, \\ M_s &= 9000 \; {\rm GeV}\,, \qquad b_s &= 3\cdot 10^6 \; {\rm GeV}^2\,, \qquad m_{\bar{s}}^2 &= 7\cdot 10^{12} \; {\rm GeV}^2\,. \end{split}$$

There are some features visible in these plots: (i) as expected, the Higgs mass becomes maximal for $\tan \beta \sim 2$ and large values of λ . (ii) since m_s^2 was chosen to unify with the other scalars, large M_s is needed to get a sufficiently large m_h . The observation that m_h grows with increasing M_s might seem at first glance inconsistent with the approximate tree-level expression for the Higgs mass derived in ref. [30]. This derivation however did not include the mixing effects in the neutral scalar sector, which have a non-negligible impact on the light eigenvalues and are fully included in our numeric computation. (iii) the absolute shift coming from the 1- and 2-loop corrections are rather insensitive to λ , i.e. the radiative corrections for the given point are completely dominated by the (s)top loops.

However, there are also parameter points where other loop corrections beside the (s)top-loops can be very important. In figure 2 we show the one-loop corrected mass with and without the corrections stemming from Higgs and neutralino/chargino loops. The other parameters have been chosen as



Figure 1. Red line: tree-level mass; blue line: tree-level and full one-loop corrections; green line: tree-level, full one-loop and dominant two loop corrections.



Figure 2. One-loop contributions to the Higgs mass as function of the value of λ at the GUT scale. The color code is as follows: black, dashed line: pure tree-level; blue-line: one-loop mass without Higgs/Neutralino/Chargino corrections; green line: full one-loop corrections including Higgs/Neutralino/Chargino contributions.

Obviously, in the case of large λ , the additional loops can easy push the Higgs mass up by more than 5 GeV and the full calculation presented here is really necessary.

3 Fine tuning and precision calculations

3.1 Fine tuning measure

In refs. [40, 41] a quantitative estimate of the the fine tuning with respect to a set of independent parameters, p, was introduced as

$$\Delta \equiv \max \operatorname{Abs}[\Delta_p], \qquad \Delta_p \equiv \frac{\partial \ln v^2}{\partial \ln p} = \frac{p}{v^2} \frac{\partial v^2}{\partial p}.$$
(3.1)

The quantity Δ^{-1} gives a measure of the accuracy to which independent parameters must be tuned to get the correct electroweak breaking scale [42]. The fine tuning of a model of course depends on what one takes to be the fundamental parameters and at which scale these are defined. Given the success of gauge coupling unification in supersymmetric models it is natural to assume an underlying GUT structure and to define the fundamental parameters at the GUT scale. We therefore assume in the following study that all sfermion soft terms unify at the GUT scale to m_0 . In addition, the mass scale of the gaugino is set by the parameter $m_{1/2}$. However, we do not necessarily impose the unification of all gaugino masses (which can still be consistent with an underlying GUT) by allowing for $M_1 = a \cdot m_{1/2}$, $M_2 = b \cdot m_{1/2}$, $M_3 = m_{1/2}$ and studying the cases a = b = 1 and deviations from it separately. It has been observed that such a non-universality can reduce the hierarchy problem through the appearance of a new "focus point" that makes the Higgs mass less sensitive to the gaugino mass scale [43-54]. We assume that a and b are fixed by the underlying theory such that contributions to the fine tuning are absent. As discussed in [23, 47] values of a and b in the low-focus-point region occur naturally in a variety of models. However, as discussed below, dropping this assumption does not greatly increase the minimum fine tuning.

We calculate the fine tuning with respect to all independent parameters in the Dirac-NMSSM, defined at the GUT scale,

$$p \in \{m_0, m_{1/2}, A_0, \mu, b\mu, \lambda, A_\lambda, M_s, b_s, t_s, t_{\bar{s}}, m_s^2, m_{\bar{s}}^2, m_{h_d}^2, m_{h_u}^2\}.$$
(3.2)

In many fine tuning analyses it has become customary to consider the fine tuning in terms of electroweak scale parameters only. Specifically for the DiracNMSSM the following measure has been used in a previous study [30]

$$\Delta_h \equiv \frac{2}{m_h^2} \max\left\{ m_{h_d}^2, m_{h_u}^2, \beta_{m_{h_d}^2}^{(1)} L, \beta_{m_{h_u}^2}^{(1)} L, B_{\text{eff}}, \delta h \right\}$$
(3.3)

with the one-loop β -functions for the Higgs soft terms, $L = \log \frac{M_{GUT}}{M_{SUSY}} \simeq 30$ and $\delta h = \frac{(\lambda M_s)^2}{(4\pi)^2} \log \frac{M_s^2 + m_s^2}{M^2}$. Here the factor L is supposed to account for the fine tuning from running, i.e. mimicking the effect of defining the parameters at the high scale.

We have compared both measures. The result is shown for a set of 100,000 points in figure 3. Even if they usually predict a FT of the same order, the differences can be sizable, with a factor of more than an order of magnitude in both directions. One feature that does not show up in the measure Δ_h is the appearance of focus point correlations, hence the fine tuning can be overestimated. We believe however that it is interesting to study such correlations among parameters which reduce the fine tuning as this might give valuable information about the desirable structure of the high energy theory. On the other hand for large SUSY parameters which usually lead to very large Δ , the FT in Δ_h appears to be much smaller. The reason is that for large SUSY parameters $\beta_{m_{h_{u,d}}}^{(1)}$ L is no longer a good approximation for the RGE dependence of the soft terms. Also the 'source' of fine tuning is less clear in the low scale picture. For instance, the strong dependence on the gluino mass which just enters indirectly in the running of $m_{h_u}^2$ is completely missed [55, 56].



Figure 3. Comparison of the two fine tuning measures.

3.2 Fine tuning calculation

Fine tuning studies have a long tradition. However, the precision of these studies has not necessarily improved as other theoretical predictions have. In particular for models which go beyond the MSSM the prediction of the fine tuning often suffers from large theoretical uncertainties which are often not mentioned:

- Higgs mass prediction: in many BMSSM studies only the dominant radiative corrections from (s)tops known from the MSSM are included. In addition, also the impact of external momenta is neglected. However, there are two main issues with this approach: (i) potentially large, additional loop corrections which don't exist in the MSSM are completely missed. The best example is the NMSSM with large λ . This has been demonstrated for the NMSSM in ref. [36] and we also show an example for the DiracNMSSM in section 2.3.2. (ii) the effective potential approach corresponding to $p^2 = 0$ can differ significantly from a full one-loop correction demanding $p^2 = m_h^2$. This has been shown for an NMSSM extension in ref. [57]. Both effects can be larger than the experimental uncertainty.
- Dark matter prediction: in particular, in co-annihilation regions the relic density of a particle has to be calculated numerically and MicrOmegas [58–60] is often used for that. There exist nowadays several possibilities to create model files for MicrOmegas for models which are not included in the public version [61–63]. Using one of these codes should be strongly favored instead of modifying existing files by hand which is very error prone. However, even if one uses the correct model files one must keep in mind that the masses used as input for MicrOmegas suffer from an uncertainty. It has been pointed out in ref. [37] that for instance the stau co-annihilation band in the NMSSM gets a sizable shift when going from tree to the one-loop level.

- RGE running: for phenomenological studies in the MSSM or NMSSM it has become standard that the full 2-loop RGEs are solved numerically. Even if there exist now several public tools which can calculate the RGEs for a given theory at the two-loop level [64–66], often one-loop approximations are used for FT studies. In particular for parameter regions which need cancellations between different contributions to the RGE running for specific parameters like the Higgs mass terms, those approximations can fail badly. Moreover, it is well known that the GUT scale defined by $g_1 = g_2$ is shifted at the 2-loop level quite a bit. Already this effect causes a non-negligible difference between the running parameters at the SUSY scale and changes in particular the masses of particles which depend on the strong interaction [67].
- SUSY thresholds: the running parameters entering the RGEs have to be derived from the measured observables. To get an accurate set of gauge and Yukawa couplings at the SUSY scale the SUSY thresholds have to be included [68]. In particular, $g_3^{\overline{\text{DR}}}$ can differ by several percent from $g_3^{\overline{\text{MS}}} = \sqrt{4\pi\alpha_s(M_Z)}$ [69]. Depending on the size of these threshold corrections the perturbativity limit of λ is shifted in singlet extensions of the NMSSM [7].

In the current study we take care of all of these issues by using the public codes SARAH and SPheno: we have implemented the DiracNMSSM in SARAH [63, 64, 70–72].² SARAH has then been used to create a SPheno [73, 74] module to get a full fledged spectrum generator for the DiracNMSSM which provides the following features:

- All masses of SUSY and Higgs particles are calculated at the one-loop level including all contributions present in the DiracNMSSM and including the impact of the external momenta in the loop functions. Details about the calculation in the Higgs sector are given in appendix D.
- The dominant 2-loop corrections $(\mathcal{O}(\alpha_t^2), \mathcal{O}(\alpha_t\alpha_s), \mathcal{O}(\alpha_t\alpha_b))$ known from the MSSM are included [75–79]. By including these corrections, we have reduced the theoretical uncertainty of the Higgs mass. However, since two loop contributions involving λ which are potentially important for large λ are missing, the remaining uncertainty is still expected to be slightly larger in comparison to the MSSM with the Higgs mass calculated at the same level.
- Prediction for precision observables like $b \to s\gamma$, g 2 or $B^0_{s,d} \to \bar{\mu}\mu$ are derived at the one-loop level which can be used to further constrain models. Also all of these calculations are automatically adjusted to the present model by SARAH as explained in ref. [80].
- All SUSY thresholds are included when calculating the gauge and Yukawa couplings in the $\overline{\text{DR}}$ scheme from the measured values of SM fermion and gauge boson masses, G_F and $\alpha_s(M_Z)$.

 $^{^{2}}$ The model files might become public with a future release of SARAH. If you are interested in them beforehand, please contact the authors.

• The RGE running is performed at the 2-loop level without any approximation. To calculate the fine tuning, we vary each of the independent parameters at the GUT scale, run all the parameters down to the weak scale and evaluate the shift in the Z mass by consistently solving all tadpole equations with respect to all vevs numerically. The last step, which is necessary to get the precise fine tuning is not yet part of the public version of SARAH but will be included in the next update.

For the calculation of the relic density we have used MicrOmegas and created the corresponding model files for the DiracNMSSM also with SARAH. To perform the parameter scans we made use of SSP [81]. The exchange of parameter values between SPheno modules written by SARAH and MicrOmegas model files also written by SARAH happens automatically by using the SLHAplus functionality [82] of CalcHep [83, 84].

This is the same setup which has been used in previous studies to compare the finetuning in the MSSM, NMSSM and GNMSSM, see refs. [22, 23]. A new feature developed in the context of this work is the automatization of the fine tuning routine in SARAH, allowing for the calculation of the fine tuning in any implemented model without the need to change the SPheno code per hand.

We have to mention that there is one issue which is still hard to include with the same precision as the other aspects: the question if a parameter point is ruled out by LHC searches or not. To be sure one would have to make a collider study for each parameter point what is far beyond the scope of this work here.³ As discussed below, the non-universal gaugino mass case in the GNMSSM often leads to a compressed SUSY spectrum with small mass differences between gauginos and the LSP that makes SUSY discovery more difficult. To account for this in a manner consistent with the non-observation of superpartners at the LHC we implemented a cut on the gluino mass as a function of the gluino-LSP mass difference as presented in [88, 89]. In figure 7 of [88] two bounds are shown, a weaker one for decoupled squarks and a stronger one for $m_{\text{squark}} \sim m_{\text{gluino}}$. Most parameter space points of interest to us are in the intermediate regime, but we will use the stronger bound here.⁴ We further require the chargino and slepton masses to be above 100 GeV. While these limits are rather conservative, simplified models typically assume a very light or massless lightest neutralino and are not applicable for this study. In any case, almost all points have much larger slepton and chargino masses, so a more aggressive cut would not qualitatively change our results. We also require that the lightest supersymmetric particle (LSP) is a neutralino which is a good dark matter candidate and its relic density does not exceed the 5σ PLANCK [90] upper bound of $\Omega h^2 \leq 0.1334$. In addition we check that the direct detection cross section is consistent with the latest result from LUX [91]. It turns out that only a small fraction of Wino and higgsino like LSPs would violate this bound after all other cuts are imposed, which therefore does not affect the allowed parameter regions significantly.

³However, also this situation is expected to be improved significantly since several tools are currently developed to test SUSY points against LHC results [85-87].

⁴This of course assumes that the bound on $m_{\text{gluino}} \sim m_{\text{squark}}$ is at least as strong as say $m_{\text{gluino}} \sim 0.7 \cdot m_{\text{squark}}$. This is not quite clear as in the case of compressed spectra the gluino is still very close in mass to the lightest neutralino while some missing E_T could be coming from the squarks. On the other hand the production cross section will be smaller in this case. As noted above a thorough study would need to examine every parameter point individually. Here we will content ourselves with this approximate cut.

4 Exploring the DiracNMSSM vs. the GNMSSM

In the following we will study the fine tuning of the DiracNMSSM and compare it with the GNMSSM. As there are already detailed studies of the fine tuning of the GNMSSM compared with the MSSM [22, 23] and NMSSM [22] using the same fine tuning measure, we refrain from repeating these comparisons here. The superpotential of the GNMSSM is given by

$$\mathcal{W} = \mathcal{W}_{\text{MSSM}} + \lambda S H_u H_d + \xi_s S + \frac{1}{2} \mu_s S^2 + \frac{1}{3} \kappa S^3 , \qquad (4.1)$$

and the corresponding soft-breaking terms read

$$V_{\text{soft}} = V_{\text{soft,MSSM}} + m_s^2 |s|^2 + \left(\frac{1}{3}\kappa A_\kappa s^3 + \lambda A_\lambda s h_u h_d + b_s s^2 + t_s s + h.c.\right) .$$
(4.2)

4.1 Universal gaugino masses

Let us first concentrate on the fine tuning in the DiracNMSSM in the case that all gaugino masses unify at the GUT scale. We solve the four conditions for correct EWSB for $\{\mu, b\mu, t_s, t_{\bar{s}}\}$. This leaves us with 16 input parameters

$$m_0, m_{1/2}, A_0, \tan\beta, m_{h_u}^2, m_{h_d}^2, \lambda, A_\lambda, v_s, v_{\bar{s}}, M_s, b_s, m_s^2, m_{\bar{s}}^2, \xi_s, \xi_{\bar{s}}.$$
(4.3)

For the case of universal gaugino masses the lightest gaugino will always be a bino. This potentially leaves a mixture of bino-, higgsino, and singlino-like neutralinos as LSP candidates. For the bino it is difficult to achieve a small enough relic abundance except in the stau coannihilation or Higgs funnel regions while the singlino turns out to be typically rather heavy in the region of interest. Accordingly most of the viable points we find have a LSP with a sizable higgsino fraction.

The overall result is summarized in figure 4. This plot shows the fine tuning as function of the SM-like Higgs mass for the DiracNMSSM (left) and the GNMSSM (right). Several different cuts are indicated: (i) light blue points correspond to no cuts, (ii) medium blue points include LHC limits on SUSY masses, and (iii) dark blue points include in addition the upper limit on the dark matter abundance as well as the limit from direct detection searches. Note that these plots are combinations of several scans of different regions in the parameter space of the models. Since we have zoomed into interesting regions with a small or moderate fine tuning the density of points can't be interpreted as some probability measure. Nevertheless, it is interesting that there is no big difference between the best fine tuning after the LHC and after the LHC and dark matter cut for the DiracNMSSM. The reason is that the lightest neutralino in the DiracNMSSM turns out to have easily a large Higgsino fraction which is sufficient to reduce the dark matter abundance to the allowed level. One can see that the best fine tuning consistent with all observables in the DiracNMSSM with unified gaugino masses is about 70. This is not improved if we dropped the upper limit on the neutralino relic density. This value is, of course, significantly better than in the MSSM where one expects $\Delta \gtrsim 300$ and also improves the situation compared to the NMSSM. However, it is of the same size as the fine tuning reported for the GNMSSM in a similar setup, see the right plot in figure 4. Here we find as best fine tuning $\Delta \simeq 78$



Figure 4. The fine tuning as a function of the SM like Higgs mass for the DiracNMSSM (left) and the GNMSSM (right). The light blue points are before any cuts. For the dark blue points we use appropriate SUSY and dark matter cuts.

including the DM cut and $\Delta \simeq 71$ without the DM cut. The best points for the GNMSSM and DiracNMSSM including the DM cut are given in table 1.

To compare the dependence of the fine tuning in both models we have randomly picked 200,000 valid points for each model. The parameter values for all points are in the ranges

$m_0 \in [0,1] \text{ TeV},$	$m_{1/2} \in [0, 1] \text{ TeV},$	$\tan\beta\in[1.5,4.0]$
$\lambda \in \left[1.0, 1.7 \right],$	$A_{\lambda} \in [-1.5, 1.5] \text{ TeV},$	$A_0 \in [-2.5, 2.5] \text{ TeV}$
$M_s, \mu_s \in [-10, 10] \text{ TeV},$	$b_s \in [-10, 10] \text{ TeV}^2$,	$v_s \in [-2, 2]$ TeV
$m_{h_d}^2 \in [-5, 5] \text{ TeV}^2$,	$m_{h_u}^2 \in [-5, 5] \text{ TeV}^2$,	$m_s^2 \in [-5, 5] \text{ TeV}^2$.

in addition, the specific parameters for the DiracNMSSM have been chosen to be

$$v_{\bar{s}} \in [-2, 2] \text{ GeV}, \qquad m_{\bar{s}}^2 \in [0, 10^4] \text{ TeV}^2$$

and those for the GNMSSM

$$\kappa \in [-1, 1], \qquad A_{\kappa} \in [-1.5, 1.5] \text{ TeV}.$$

Note, since the points shown in the following are chosen randomly from the full data-set they don't include the points with the best fine tuning which have been found for both models. They are just meant to demonstrate the general similarities and differences in the fine tuning of both models.

The effec	t of the	different	cuts	can	be	summarized	as follows:	

	DiracNMSSM	GNMSSM
Valid points	200,000	200,000
After SUSY cuts	$52,\!623$	$64,\!514$
After Higgs cut	$5,\!527$	23,783
After DM cut	943~(13)	204 (55)
After direct detection cut	918(13)	195 (51)



Figure 5. Fine tuning vs. m_0 , $m_{1/2}$ and A_0 in the DiracNMSSM (first line) and GNMSSM (second line). With increasing saturation the following cuts are applied: (i) no cut, (ii) cut on SUSY masses, (iii) cut on the SM like Higgs mass, (iv) cut on the upper limit of the dark matter abundance.

In both models the SUSY cuts rule out about 2/3 to 3/4 of the valid points. That's not surprising since the changes in the Higgs sector are expected to have only a small impact on the squark and gluino masses and for $m_{1/2} \leq 750 \,\text{GeV}$ the gluino mass turns out to be too light. However, there are two obvious differences: while it seems to be much easier to accommodate a Higgs mass in the expected range in the GNMSSM than in the DiracNMSSM, the DiracNMSSM is doing better in satisfying the upper limit of the dark matter abundance. The reason for this is, as mentioned already above, that the lightest neutralino in the DiracNMSSM is much more often a Higgsino which annihilates very efficiently. The numbers in brackets refer to points which are consistent with the LSP making up all of the dark matter, i.e. where also a lower bound on the relic abundance is imposed.

We turn now to the dependence of the fine tuning on the different parameters. For this purpose the fine tuning versus m_0 , $m_{1/2}$ and A_0 is shown in figure 5, versus λ , A_{λ} and M_s/μ_s in figure 6, versus v_s , μ and $b\mu$ in figure 7, and versus $m_{h_d}^2$, $m_{h_u}^2$ and m_s^2 in figure 8. For the parameters not shown here $(b_s, m_{\bar{s}}^2, v_{\bar{s}}, \kappa, A_{\kappa})$ there is no visible dependence of the fine tuning on those parameters.

In figure 5 there is a very strong dependence of the fine tuning in both models on the gaugino mass parameters $m_{1/2}$. Small values for $m_{1/2}$ are usually forbidden by the gluino searches at the LHC. That's one of the main reasons which pushes the fine tuning to larger values. The impact of m_0 is rather moderate in both models, as long as it is not too large (as we don't assume the sfermion masses to unify with the soft Higgs masses, the focus point solution for large m_0 won't work here). Further the DiracNMSSM and the GNMSSM seem to slightly favour positive A_0 . The fine tuning as function of the additional superpotential parameters λ and M_s or μ_s is shown in figure 6. While λ plays an important



Figure 6. Fine tuning vs. λ , A_{λ} and M_s in the DiracNMSSM (first line) and GNMSSM (second line). The color code is the same as in figure 5.

role in lifting the Higgs mass to the desired range, only a mild preference towards very large λ in terms of the fine tuning is seen. On the other hand the dependence on M_s is much more pronounced. First, there are hardly any valid points for $|M_s| < 1$ TeV. The reason for this in the DiracNMSSM has already been discussed in section 2.3.1: usually, large values of M_s^2 are needed to get a large enough Higgs mass or even three positive eigenvalues of the Higgs mass matrix squared. Similarly, it is very difficult to find valid parameter points in the GNMSSM which don't suffer from tachyonic states in the Higgs sector.⁵ Furthermore, even for $|M_s| > 4$ TeV there is a strong correlation between the fine tuning and the value of M_s in the DiracNMSSM after the Higgs cut is applied. Usually very large values of M_s are needed to reduce the fine tuning. The reason is that the tree-level mass of the SM like Higgs increases with M_s and therefore for large values of M_s the necessity of large loop corrections due to heavy stops is reduced. That's different to the GNMSSM where the relation between the fine tuning and μ_s is roughly flat in this range even after the Higgs mass cut. In figure 7 we show the fine tuning as function of v_s . While the fine tuning in the GNMSSM shows hardly any dependence on the singlet VEV after all cuts, the fine tuning in the DiracNMSSM increases with increasing $|v_s|$. Thus, singlet VEVs below 1 TeV are preferred in the DiracNMSSM. One might be surprised that the fine tuning depends on v_s at all since this parameter does not enter eq. (3.1). However, one can see from eq. (2.17)that large $|v_s|$ also leads in general to larger $|\mu|$. That the fine tuning in the MSSM strongly depends on μ is well known. As we can see in the middle of figure 7 this is also the case for the DiracNMSSM and the GNMSSM. $|\mu|$ should be not larger than a few hundred GeV to have good fine tuning.

⁵This seems at odds with a number of NMSSM studies, which of course have $\mu_s = 0$. One should note however that the density of valid points in the NMSSM is significantly smaller than in the MSSM, which indirectly shows up here.



Figure 7. Fine tuning vs. v_s , μ and $b\mu$ in the DiracNMSSM (first line) and GNMSSM (second line). Here μ and $b\mu$ are given at the SUSY scale. The color code is the same as in figure 5.

From the model building point of view, the main difference between the GNMSSM and DiracNMSSM is the extended singlet sector of the DiracNMSSM. A second singlet was introduced to allow for smaller values of m_s^2 without decoupling of the tree-level contribution to the Higgs mass for large singlet masses. This in turn was supposed to reduce the fine tuning in the DiracNMSSM. However, the plots in the last row in figure 8 show that the fine tuning with respect to m_s^2 is rather mild and also in the GNMSSM there are points after all cuts with $m_s^2 = 0$. This might be the main reason why there is not a significant improvement in the fine tuning in the DiracNMSSM compared to the GNMSSM. Actually, it turns out that the fine tuning in both models is roughly the same for universal gaugino masses as we have seen.

4.2 Non-universal gaugino masses

As we have mentioned before, non-universal gaugino masses tend to improve the fine tuning through the appearance of a new "focus point" that makes the Higgs mass less sensitive to the gaugino mass scale [43–54]. We assume that a and b are fixed by the underlying theory such that their contributions to the fine tuning are absent. As discussed in [23, 47] values of a and b in the low-focus-point region occur naturally in a variety of models.

We show in figure 9 the overall fine tuning vs. the mass of the SM-like Higgs for this case. We see that in both models it improves significantly. The best fine tuning we find now for the DiracNMSSM fulfilling all experimental constraints and satisfying the upper limit of the neutralino abundance is $\Delta \simeq 32$, for the GNMSSM we even find points with $\Delta \simeq 14$ (for more details about the spectra of these points see table 1). Here we have assumed that the UV physics results in a fixed ratio of the gaugino masses at the high scale, i.e. we have not included the fine tuning with respect to the parameters a and b. While this assumption is well motivated, it is interesting to note that a strict ratio of the



Figure 8. Fine tuning vs. $m_{h_d}^2$, $m_{h_u}^2$ and m_s^2 in the DiracNMSSM (first line) and GNMSSM (second line). The color code is the same as in figure 6.



Figure 9. The fine tuning as a function of the SM like Higgs mass allowing for non-universal gaugino masses for the DiracNMSSM (left) and the GNMSSM (right). The light blue points are before any cuts. For the dark blue points we use appropriate SUSY and dark matter cuts. The minimal FT we find in the DiracNMSSM is $\Delta = 32$, in the GNMSSM it is $\Delta = 14$. The narrow plot on the right depicts the fine tuning in the GNMSSM taking into account the fine tuning with respect to *a* and *b* for a couple of interesting points, showing that the minimal fine tuning does not greatly depend on the assumption of fixed gaugino mass ratios.

wino to gluino masses is not necessary as long as both are comparable at the weak scale; in the case of the GNMSSM, including the fine tuning with respect to a and b, the minimum fine tuning is still only 24. Hence, dropping the assumption of definite a and b ratios does not greatly increase the fine tuning.

The plot also shows that before SUSY cuts the fine tuning in both models is very similar. We find the difference between the two models in the case of nonuniversal gaugino masses to be the following: the mass of the higgsino-like neutralino is set by $\mu_{\text{eff}} = \mu + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\lambda_{EW}v_s$, while the fine tuning is mainly dominated by μ . In the GNMSSM it seems to



Figure 10. Smallest fine tuning in the gluino-squark and gluino-LSP plane for the DiracNMSSM (top) and the GNMSSM (bottom). It can be seen that low fine tuning often corresponds to compressed spectra.

be easier to have sizable $\mu_{\rm eff} \gtrsim 700 \,{\rm GeV}$ which would allow for a compressed spectrum and hence lighter gluinos. In the DiracNMSSM on the other hand $\mu_{\rm eff}$ is typically closer to μ . This means that for very compressed spectra with $m_{\rm higgsino} \sim m_{\rm gluino} \sim 700 \,{\rm GeV}$ the μ term is sizable, implying moderate fine tuning. On the other hand for very small values of μ we typically have a rather light higgsino-like LSP. In this case a compressed spectrum is not possible and the gluino has to be correspondingly heavier, implying larger fine tuning.

In figure 10 we present the best fine tuning we find in the $(m_{\text{gluino}}, m_{\text{squark}})$ and in the $(m_{\text{gluino}}, m_{\text{LSP}})$ plane. We see that a very good fine tuning is not only possible close to the parameter regions where the gluino is nearly degenerate with the LSP but also for heavy gluinos above 2 TeV. Also note that our scans were optimized to find the smallest fine tuning, so it is conceivable that the fine-tuning for large masses is overestimated. The heavy gluino case will be hard to exclude by the next LHC runs [92]. Thus, despite the excellent performance of the LHC experiments there is still the possibility of SUSY with a fine tuning less than 100 which can't be tested in the near future. However, to find models with this small fine tuning for gluinos above 2 TeV one has to give up the most constrained models with universal soft parameters for all scalars and all gauginos.

5 Summary and conclusions

We have performed a careful evaluation of the level of fine tuning in the DiracNMSSM. For this purpose we have implemented this model in public computer tools to get a precise prediction for the Higgs mass, the dark matter relic abundance, and the SUSY mass spectrum. We have considered rather general high scale boundary conditions — in particular we assumed that the Higgs and singlet soft terms are independent of m_0 and of each other. Also all the A-terms were taken to be independent. If we force the gaugino mass terms to unify at the GUT scale the minimal fine tuning allowed by all experimental constraints is about 70 for both the DiracNMSSM and the GNMSSM. If we relax the unification conditions in the gaugino sector the minimal fine tuning gets improved to 32 in the DiracNMSSM and 14 in the GNMSSM. Hence, both models significantly improve the fine tuning situation compared to the MSSM and the level of fine tuning is comparable in both models, albeit slightly lower in the GNMSSM.

Acknowledgments

The research presented here was partially supported by the EU ITN grant UNILHC 237920 (Unification in the LHC era). FS is supported by the BMBF PT DESY Verbundprojekt 05H2013-THEORIE 'Vergleich von LHC-Daten mit supersymmetrischen Modellen'.

	GNMSSM I	GNMSSM II	DiracNMSSM I	DiracNMSSM II
$m_0 \; [\text{GeV}]$	525	50	414	228
$m_{1/2} \; [\text{GeV}]$	774	460	781	463
a	1	8.2	1	-6.7
b	1	-4.2	1	-3.8
aneta	2.3	2.2	2.4	2.2
$A_0 \; [\text{GeV}]$	972	-923	4493	-1844
λ	1.68	1.58	1.65	1.61
κ	0.002	0.146	-	-
$A_{\lambda} \; [{ m GeV}]$	964	-133	1217	-1471
A_{κ} [GeV]	712	-374	-	-
$v_s \; [\text{GeV}]$	-1024	906	34	430
$v_{\bar{s}} \; [\text{GeV}]$	-	-	0.1	150
$M_s(\mu_s)$ [GeV]	-6607	3170	8105	-5097
$b_s \; [{ m GeV}^2]$	$-1.2 \cdot 10^{7}$	$1.9\cdot 10^6$	$8.5 \cdot 10^4$	$1.8\cdot 10^6$
$m_s^2 \; [{ m GeV}^2]$	$4.6 \cdot 10^{6}$	$2.6\cdot 10^5$	$7.7\cdot 10^5$	$8.6\cdot 10^5$
$m_{\bar{s}}^2 \; [\text{GeV}^2]$	-	-	$5.2\cdot10^{10}$	$2.4\cdot 10^9$
$m_{h_d}^2 \; [\text{GeV}^2]$	$7.7 \cdot 10^5$	$1.3 \cdot 10^5$	$5.2 \cdot 10^5$	$1.4\cdot 10^5$
$m_{h_u}^2 \; [{\rm GeV}^2]$	$2.4\cdot 10^6$	$1.8\cdot 10^5$	$2.7\cdot 10^6$	$1.5 \cdot 10^5$
$m_{h_1} \; [\text{GeV}]$	126.3	122.8	123.1	122.7
$m_{h_2} \; [\text{GeV}]$	718	1561	1243	1538
$m_{h_3} \; [\text{GeV}]$	2815	1670	5657	3550
$m_{\tilde{\chi}^0_1}$ [GeV]	350	687	336	707
$m_{\tilde{\chi}_1^+}$ [GeV]	642	690	360	711
$m_{\tilde{\chi}_2^+}$ [GeV]	851	1611	649	1448
$m_{\tilde{t}_1}$ [GeV]	1131	765	672	738
$m_{\tilde{b}_1}$ [GeV]	1403	1013	1238	1022
$m_{\tilde{\tau}_1}$ [GeV]	532	1383	407	1157
$m_{\tilde{d_P}}$ [GeV]	1528	1014	1493	1022
$m_{\tilde{d_I}}$ [GeV]	1597	1528	1544	1466
$m_{\tilde{u_R}}$ [GeV]	1559	1283	1542	1209
$m_{\tilde{u_L}}$ [GeV]	1595	1527	1544	1464
$m_{\tilde{g}} [\text{GeV}]$	1689	1112	1681	1127
Ωh^2	0.03	0.04	0.07	0.04
Δ	78.4	14.4	69.5	32.5

Table 1. Benchmark points (points with smallest fine tuning for each case) for the DiracNMSSMand the GNMSSM with and without universal gaugino masses.

A Renormalisation group equations

For those parameters present in the MSSM, we give only the difference to the RGEs in comparison to the MSSM. The convention for the β function and anomalous dimensions are

$$\beta_x = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \beta_x^{(1)} + \frac{1}{(16\pi^2)^2} \beta_x^{(2)}, \qquad \gamma_x = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \gamma_x^{(1)} + \frac{1}{(16\pi^2)^2} \gamma_x^{(2)}.$$
(A.1)

The calculation of the β -functions is performed by SARAH. The calculation of β -functions for SUSY models up to two loop with SARAH are based on the generic results given in refs. [93–98].

A.1 Anomalous dimensions

$$\Delta \gamma_{\hat{q}}^{(2)} = -|\lambda|^2 \left(Y_d^{\dagger} Y_d + Y_u^{\dagger} Y_u \right) \tag{A.2}$$

$$\Delta \gamma_{\hat{l}}^{(2)} = -|\lambda|^2 Y_e^{\dagger} Y_e \tag{A.3}$$

$$\Delta \gamma_{\hat{H}_d}^{(1)} = |\lambda|^2 \tag{A.4}$$

$$\Delta \gamma_{\hat{H}_d}^{(2)} = -3|\lambda|^2 \left(|\lambda|^2 + \operatorname{Tr}\left(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger}\right) \right) \tag{A.5}$$

$$\Delta \gamma_{\hat{H}_u}^{(1)} = |\lambda|^2 \tag{A.6}$$
$$\Delta \gamma_{\hat{\mu}}^{(2)} = -|\lambda|^2 \left(3|\lambda|^2 + 3\text{Tr}\left(Y_d Y_d^\dagger\right) + \text{Tr}\left(Y_e Y_e^\dagger\right)\right) \tag{A.7}$$

$$\Delta \gamma_{\hat{d}}^{(2)} = -2|\lambda|^2 Y_d^* Y_d^T$$
(A.8)

$$\Delta \gamma_{\hat{u}}^{(2)} = -2|\lambda|^2 Y_u^* Y_u^T \tag{A.9}$$

$$\Delta \gamma_{\hat{e}}^{(2)} = -2|\lambda|^2 Y_e^* Y_e^T \tag{A.10}$$

$$\gamma_{\hat{s}}^{(1)} = 2|\lambda|^2 \tag{A.11}$$

$$\gamma_{\hat{s}}^{(2)} = -\frac{2}{5}|\lambda|^2 \left(10|\lambda|^2 - 15g_2^2 + 15\operatorname{Tr}\left(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger}\right) + 15\operatorname{Tr}\left(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger}\right) - 3g_1^2 + 5\operatorname{Tr}\left(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger}\right)\right) \quad (A.12)$$

$$\gamma_{\hat{s}}^{(1)} = 0$$
 (A.13)

$$\gamma_{\hat{s}}^{(2)} = 0 \tag{A.14}$$

A.2 Gauge couplings

$$\Delta\beta_{g_1}^{(2)} = -\frac{6}{5}g_1^3|\lambda|^2 \tag{A.15}$$

$$\Delta \beta_{g_2}^{(2)} = -2g_2^3 |\lambda|^2 \tag{A.16}$$

A.3 Gaugino mass parameters

$$\Delta \beta_{M_1}^{(2)} = -\frac{12}{5} g_1^2 \lambda^* \left(M_1 \lambda - T_\lambda \right)$$
(A.17)

$$\Delta \beta_{M_2}^{(2)} = 4g_2^2 \lambda^* \Big(-M_2 \lambda + T_\lambda \Big) \tag{A.18}$$

A.4 Trilinear superpotential parameters

$$\Delta \beta_{Y_d}^{(1)} = Y_d |\lambda|^2 \tag{A.19}$$

$$\Delta \beta_{Y_d}^{(2)} = -|\lambda|^2 \Big(3Y_d |\lambda|^2 + 3Y_d \operatorname{Tr} \Big(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} \Big) + 3Y_d Y_d^{\dagger} Y_d + Y_d Y_u^{\dagger} Y_u \Big)$$
(A.20)

$$\Delta \beta_{Y_e}^{(1)} = Y_e |\lambda|^2 \tag{A.21}$$

$$\Delta \beta_{Y_e}^{(2)} = -3|\lambda|^2 \left(Y_e |\lambda|^2 + Y_e \operatorname{Tr} \left(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} \right) + Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} Y_e \right)$$

$$\Delta \beta_Y^{(1)} = Y_u |\lambda|^2$$
(A.22)
(A.23)

$$\Delta \beta_{Y_u}^{(2)} = -|\lambda|^2 \left(3Y_u |\lambda|^2 + 3Y_u \operatorname{Tr}\left(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger}\right) + 3Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} Y_u + Y_u \operatorname{Tr}\left(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger}\right) + Y_u Y_d^{\dagger} Y_d \right)$$
(A.24)

$$\beta_{\lambda}^{(1)} = -3g_2^2\lambda + 3\lambda \mathrm{Tr}\left(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger}\right) + 3\lambda \mathrm{Tr}\left(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger}\right) + 4\lambda^2 \lambda^* - \frac{3}{5}g_1^2\lambda + \lambda \mathrm{Tr}\left(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger}\right) \tag{A.25}$$

$$\beta_{\lambda}^{(2)} = -\frac{1}{50}\lambda \Big(500|\lambda|^4 - 207g_1^4 - 90g_1^2g_2^2 - 375g_2^4 + 20\Big(g_1^2 - 40g_3^2\Big) \operatorname{Tr}\Big(Y_dY_d^\dagger\Big)$$
(A.26)
$$- 20g_1^2 \operatorname{Tr}\Big(3Y_eY_e^\dagger + 2Y_uY_u^\dagger\Big) - 30|\lambda|^2 \Big(10g_2^2 - 5\operatorname{Tr}\Big(3Y_dY_d^\dagger + 3Y_uY_u^\dagger + Y_eY_e^\dagger\Big) + 2g_1^2\Big) - 800g_3^2 \operatorname{Tr}\Big(Y_uY_u^\dagger\Big) + 15\operatorname{Tr}\Big(3Y_dY_d^\dagger Y_dY_d^\dagger + 2Y_dY_u^\dagger Y_uY_d^\dagger + Y_eY_e^\dagger Y_eY_e^\dagger + 3Y_uY_u^\dagger Y_uY_u^\dagger\Big) \Big)$$

A.5 Bilinear superpotential parameters

$$\Delta \beta_{\mu}^{(1)} = 2\mu |\lambda|^2 \tag{A.27}$$

$$\Delta \beta_{\mu}^{(2)} = -\mu |\lambda|^2 \Big(3 \operatorname{Tr} \Big(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger} \Big) + 3 \operatorname{Tr} \Big(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} \Big) + 6|\lambda|^2 + \operatorname{Tr} \Big(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} \Big) \Big)$$
(A.28)

$$\beta_{M_s}^{(1)} = 2M_s |\lambda|^2$$

$$\beta_{M_s}^{(2)} = -\frac{2}{5}M_s |\lambda|^2 \left(10|\lambda|^2 - 15g_2^2 + 15\text{Tr}\left(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger}\right) + 15\text{Tr}\left(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger}\right) - 3g_1^2 + 5\text{Tr}\left(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger}\right)\right)$$
(A.29)
(A.30)

A.6 Trilinear soft-breaking parameters

$$\Delta \beta_{T_d}^{(1)} = \lambda^* \left(2Y_d T_\lambda + \lambda T_d \right)$$
(A.31)
$$\Delta \beta_{T_d}^{(2)} = -\lambda^* \left(3|\lambda|^2 \left(4Y_d T_\lambda + \lambda T_d \right) + 2T_\lambda \left(3Y_d \operatorname{Tr} \left(Y_\nu Y^\dagger \right) + 3Y_d Y_\nu^\dagger Y_d + Y_d Y^\dagger Y_\nu \right)$$
(A.32)

$$\Delta \beta_{T_{d}}^{(1)} = \lambda^{*} \left(2Y_{d}Y_{u}^{\dagger}T_{u} + 3T_{d}\operatorname{Tr}\left(Y_{u}Y_{u}^{\dagger}\right) + 4Y_{d}Y_{d}^{\dagger}T_{d} + 5T_{d}Y_{d}^{\dagger}Y_{d} + 6Y_{d}\operatorname{Tr}\left(Y_{u}^{\dagger}T_{u}\right) + T_{d}Y_{u}^{\dagger}Y_{u} \right) \right)$$

$$\Delta \beta_{T_{e}}^{(1)} = \lambda^{*} \left(2Y_{e}T_{\lambda} + \lambda T_{e} \right)$$
(A.33)

$$\Delta \beta_{T_e}^{(2)} = -\lambda^* \left(3|\lambda|^2 \left(4Y_e T_\lambda + \lambda T_e \right) + 6T_\lambda \left(Y_e \operatorname{Tr} \left(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} \right) + Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} Y_e \right) \right. \\ \left. + \lambda \left(3T_e \operatorname{Tr} \left(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} \right) + 4Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} T_e + 5T_e Y_e^{\dagger} Y_e + 6Y_e \operatorname{Tr} \left(Y_u^{\dagger} T_u \right) \right) \right)$$
(A.34)

$$\Delta\beta_{T_u}^{(1)} = \lambda^* \Big(2Y_u T_\lambda + \lambda T_u \Big) \tag{A.35}$$

$$\begin{split} \Delta\beta_{T_{u}}^{(2)} &= -\lambda^{*} \Big(3|\lambda|^{2} \Big(4Y_{u}T_{\lambda} + \lambda T_{u} \Big) + 2T_{\lambda} \Big(Y_{u} \mathrm{Tr} \Big(3Y_{d}Y_{d}^{\dagger} + Y_{e}Y_{e}^{\dagger} \Big) + 3Y_{u}Y_{u}^{\dagger}Y_{u} + Y_{u}Y_{d}^{\dagger}Y_{d} \Big) \\ &+ \lambda \Big(2Y_{u}Y_{d}^{\dagger}T_{d} + 4Y_{u}Y_{u}^{\dagger}T_{u} + T_{u}Y_{d}^{\dagger}Y_{d} + 5T_{u}Y_{u}^{\dagger}Y_{u} + 3T_{u}\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{d}Y_{d}^{\dagger} \Big) + T_{u}\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{e}Y_{e}^{\dagger} \Big) \\ &+ 6Y_{u}\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{d}^{\dagger}T_{d} \Big) + 2Y_{u}\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{e}^{\dagger}T_{e} \Big) \Big) \Big) \\ (A.36) \\ \beta_{T_{\lambda}}^{(1)} &= +\frac{6}{5}g_{1}^{2}M_{1}\lambda + 6g_{2}^{2}M_{2}\lambda + T_{\lambda} \Big(12|\lambda|^{2} - 3g_{2}^{2} + \mathrm{Tr} \Big(3Y_{d}Y_{d}^{\dagger} + Y_{e}Y_{e}^{\dagger} + 3Y_{u}Y_{u}^{\dagger} \Big) - \frac{3}{5}g_{1}^{2} \Big) \\ &+ 6\lambda\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{d}^{\dagger}T_{d} \Big) + 2\lambda\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{e}^{\dagger}T_{e} \Big) + 6\lambda\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{u}^{\dagger}T_{u} \Big) \\ (A.37) \\ \beta_{T_{\lambda}}^{(2)} &= -50|\lambda|^{4}T_{\lambda} - \frac{3}{5}|\lambda|^{2} \Big(T_{\lambda} \Big(15\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{e}Y_{e}^{\dagger} \Big) - 30g_{2}^{2} + 45\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{d}Y_{d}^{\dagger} + Y_{u}Y_{u}^{\dagger} \Big) - 6g_{1}^{2} \Big) \\ &+ 2\lambda \Big(10g_{2}^{2}M_{2} + 15\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{d}^{\dagger}T_{d} \Big) + 15\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{u}^{\dagger}T_{u} \Big) \\ &+ 2\lambda \Big(10g_{2}^{2}M_{2} + 15\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{d}^{\dagger}T_{d} \Big) + 15\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{u}^{\dagger}T_{u} \Big) + 2g_{1}^{2}M_{1} + 5\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{e}^{\dagger}T_{e} \Big) \Big) \Big) \\ &+ T_{\lambda} \Big(\frac{207}{50}g_{1}^{4} + \frac{9}{9}g_{1}^{2}g_{2}^{2} + \frac{15}{2}g_{2}^{4} - \frac{2}{5}\Big(g_{1}^{2} - 40g_{3}^{2} \Big)\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{d}Y_{d}^{\dagger} \Big) + \frac{2}{5}g_{1}^{2}\mathrm{Tr} \Big(3Y_{e}Y_{e}^{\dagger} + 2Y_{u}Y_{u}^{\dagger} \Big) \\ &+ 16g_{3}^{2}\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{u}Y_{u}^{\dagger} \Big) - 3\mathrm{Tr} \Big(3Y_{d}Y_{d}^{\dagger}Y_{d}Y_{d}^{\dagger} + 2Y_{d}Y_{u}^{\dagger}Y_{u}Y_{d}^{\dagger} + Y_{e}Y_{e}^{\dagger}Y_{e}Y_{e}^{\dagger} + 3Y_{u}Y_{u}^{\dagger}Y_{u}Y_{u}^{\dagger} \Big) \Big) \\ &- \frac{2}{25}\lambda \Big(207g_{1}^{4}M_{1} + 45g_{1}^{2}g_{2}^{2}(M_{1} + M_{2}) + 375g_{2}^{4}M_{2} - 10\Big(g_{1}^{2}M_{1} - 40g_{3}^{2}M_{3}\Big)\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{d}Y_{d}^{\dagger} \Big) \\ &+ 30g_{1}^{2}M_{1}\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{e}Y_{e}^{\dagger} \Big) + 20g_{1}^{2}M_{1}\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{u}Y_{u}^{\dagger} \Big) + 400g_{3}^{2}M_{3}\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{u}Y_{u}^{\dagger} \Big) + 10g_{1}^{2}\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{d}^{\dagger}T_{d} \Big) \\ &- 400g_{3}^{2}\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{d}^{\dagger}T_{d} \Big) - 30g_{1}^{2}\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{e}^{\dagger}T_{e} \Big) - 20g_{1}^{2}\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{u}^{\dagger}T_{u} \Big) - 400g_{3}^{2}\mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_{u}^{\dagger}T_{d} \Big) \\ &+ 15$$

A.7 Bilinear soft-breaking parameters

$$\begin{split} \Delta\beta_{B\mu}^{(1)} &= 2\lambda^* \left(2\mu T_{\lambda} + 3\lambda B\mu \right) \tag{A.39} \\ \Delta\beta_{B\mu}^{(2)} &= -\frac{1}{5}\lambda^* \left(\lambda B\mu \left(25 \text{Tr} \left(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} \right) - 36g_1^2 - 180g_2^2 + 70|\lambda|^2 + 75 \text{Tr} \left(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger} + Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} \right) \right) \\ &+ 2\mu \left(80|\lambda|^2 T_{\lambda} + 5T_{\lambda} \left(3\text{Tr} \left(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger} \right) + 3\text{Tr} \left(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} \right) + \text{Tr} \left(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} \right) \right) \\ &+ 3\lambda \left(15 \text{Tr} \left(Y_d^{\dagger} T_d \right) + 15 \text{Tr} \left(Y_u^{\dagger} T_u \right) + 30g_2^2 M_2 + 5 \text{Tr} \left(Y_e^{\dagger} T_e \right) + 6g_1^2 M_1 \right) \right) \right) \tag{A.40} \\ \beta_{b_s}^{(1)} &= 2\lambda^* \left(2M_s T_{\lambda} + \lambda b_s \right) \tag{A.41} \\ \beta_{b_s}^{(2)} &= -\frac{2}{5}\lambda^* \left(\lambda b_s \left(10|\lambda|^2 - 15g_2^2 + 15 \text{Tr} \left(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger} \right) + 15 \text{Tr} \left(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} \right) - 3g_1^2 + 5 \text{Tr} \left(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} \right) \right) \\ &+ 2M_s \left(T_{\lambda} \left(- 15g_2^2 + 15 \text{Tr} \left(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger} \right) + 15 \text{Tr} \left(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} \right) + 20|\lambda|^2 - 3g_1^2 + 5 \text{Tr} \left(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} \right) \right) \\ &+ \lambda \left(15g_2^2 M_2 + 15 \text{Tr} \left(Y_d^{\dagger} T_d \right) + 15 \text{Tr} \left(Y_u^{\dagger} T_u \right) + 3g_1^2 M_1 + 5 \text{Tr} \left(Y_e^{\dagger} T_e \right) \right) \right) \tag{A.42}$$

A.8 Linear soft-breaking parameters

$$\beta_{t_s}^{(1)} = 2\lambda^* \left(2\xi_s T_\lambda + \lambda t_s \right) + 4B\mu^* T_\lambda + 4\left(m_{h_d}^2 + m_{h_u}^2 \right) \lambda \mu^*$$
(A.43)

$$\begin{aligned} \beta_{ts}^{(2)} &= -\frac{2}{5} \Big(10\lambda\lambda^{*,2} \Big(4\xi_s T_\lambda + \lambda t_s \Big) + \lambda^* \Big(20 \Big(2m_{h_d}^2 + 2m_{h_u}^2 + m_s^2 \Big) \lambda^2 \mu^* \\ &+ \lambda t_s \Big(15 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger} \Big) - 3 \Big(5g_2^2 - 5 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} \Big) + g_1^2 \Big) + 5 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} \Big) \Big) \\ &+ 2 \Big(T_\lambda \Big(20\lambda B \mu^* + \xi_s \Big(15 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger} \Big) - 3 \Big(5g_2^2 - 5 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} \Big) + g_1^2 \Big) + 5 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} \Big) \Big) \Big) \\ &+ \xi_s \lambda \Big(15 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_d^{\dagger} T_d \Big) + 3 \Big(5g_2^2 M_2 + 5 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_u T_u^{\dagger} \Big) + g_1^2 \Big) + 5 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_e^{\dagger} T_e \Big) \Big) \Big) \\ &+ 2 \Big(B \mu^* \Big(T_\lambda \Big(15 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger} \Big) - 3 \Big(5g_2^2 - 5 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} \Big) + g_1^2 \Big) + 5 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} \Big) \Big) \\ &+ \lambda \Big(15 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_d^{\dagger} T_d \Big) + 3 \Big(5g_2^2 M_2 + 5 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_u^{\dagger} T_u \Big) + g_1^2 M_1 \Big) + 5 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_e^{\dagger} T_e \Big) \Big) \Big) \\ &+ \mu^* \Big(- 3g_1^2 m_{h_d}^2 \lambda - 15g_2^2 m_{h_d}^2 \lambda - 3g_1^2 m_{h_u}^2 \lambda - 15g_2^2 m_{h_u}^2 \lambda - 6g_1^2 \lambda |M_1|^2 - 30g_2^2 \lambda |M_2|^2 \\ &+ 20\lambda |T_\lambda|^2 + 3g_1^2 M_1 T_\lambda + 15g_2^2 M_2 T_\lambda + 30m_{h_d}^2 \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger} \Big) + 15m_{h_u}^2 \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger} \Big) \\ &+ 10m_{h_d}^2 \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} \Big) + 5m_{h_u}^2 \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} \Big) + 15m_{h_u}^2 \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} \Big) \\ &+ 15T_\lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(T_u^* Y_d^T \Big) + 15\lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(T_d^* T_d^T \Big) + 5T_\lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(T_e^* Y_e^T \Big) + 5\lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(T_e^* T_e^T \Big) + 15T_\lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} \Big) \\ &+ 5\lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_e m_l^2 Y_e^{\dagger} \Big) + 15\lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} m_d^{2*} \Big) + 15\lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_u m_q^2 Y_u^{\dagger} \Big) \Big) \Big) \Big)$$

$$(A.44)$$

$$\beta_{ts}^{(1)} = 4M_s B \mu \lambda^*$$

$$(A.45)$$

$$\beta_{t\bar{s}}^{(2)} = -\frac{1}{5}M_s\lambda^* \left(B\mu \left(10|\lambda|^2 - 15g_2^2 + 15\operatorname{Tr} \left(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger} \right) + 15\operatorname{Tr} \left(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} \right) - 3g_1^2 + 5\operatorname{Tr} \left(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} \right) \right) + \mu \left(10\lambda^* T_\lambda + 15g_2^2 M_2 + 15\operatorname{Tr} \left(Y_d^{\dagger} T_d \right) + 15\operatorname{Tr} \left(Y_u^{\dagger} T_u \right) + 3g_1^2 M_1 + 5\operatorname{Tr} \left(Y_e^{\dagger} T_e \right) \right) \right)$$
(A.46)

A.9 Soft-breaking scalar masses

$$\Delta\beta_{m_q^2}^{(2)} = -2T_\lambda^* \Big(\lambda \Big(Y_d^{\dagger} T_d + Y_u^{\dagger} T_u \Big) + \Big(Y_d^{\dagger} Y_d + Y_u^{\dagger} Y_u \Big) T_\lambda \Big) - \lambda^* \Big(2 \Big(2m_{h_d}^2 + m_{h_u}^2 + m_s^2 \Big) \lambda Y_d^{\dagger} Y_d + 2 \Big(2m_{h_u}^2 + m_{h_d}^2 + m_s^2 \Big) \lambda Y_u^{\dagger} Y_u + \lambda m_q^2 Y_d^{\dagger} Y_d + \lambda m_q^2 Y_u^{\dagger} Y_u + 2\lambda Y_d^{\dagger} m_d^2 Y_d + \lambda Y_d^{\dagger} Y_d m_q^2 + 2\lambda Y_u^{\dagger} m_u^2 Y_u + 2\lambda T_d^{\dagger} T_d + 2\lambda T_u^{\dagger} T_u + \lambda Y_u^{\dagger} Y_u m_q^2 + 2T_d^{\dagger} Y_d T_\lambda + 2T_u^{\dagger} Y_u T_\lambda \Big)$$
(A.47)

$$\begin{split} \Delta\beta_{m_l^2}^{(2)} &= -2T_\lambda^* \Big(\lambda Y_e^{\dagger} T_e + Y_e^{\dagger} Y_e T_\lambda \Big) - \lambda^* \Big(2 \Big(2m_{h_d}^2 + m_{h_u}^2 + m_s^2 \Big) \lambda Y_e^{\dagger} Y_e \\ &+ \lambda \Big(2T_e^{\dagger} T_e + 2Y_e^{\dagger} m_e^2 Y_e + m_l^2 Y_e^{\dagger} Y_e + Y_e^{\dagger} Y_e m_l^2 \Big) + 2T_e^{\dagger} Y_e T_\lambda \Big) \end{split}$$
(A.48)

$$\Delta \beta_{m_{h_d}^2}^{(1)} = 2 \left(\left(m_{h_d}^2 + m_{h_u}^2 + m_s^2 \right) |\lambda|^2 + |T_\lambda|^2 \right)$$
(A.49)

$$\Delta\beta_{m_{h_d}^2}^{(2)} = -6\Big(2\Big(m_{h_d}^2 + m_{h_u}^2 + m_s^2\Big)|\lambda|^4 + T_\lambda^*\Big(\lambda \operatorname{Tr}\Big(Y_u^{\dagger}T_u\Big) + T_\lambda \operatorname{Tr}\Big(Y_uY_u^{\dagger}\Big)\Big) + \lambda^*\Big(4\lambda|T_\lambda|^2 + \Big(2m_{h_u}^2 + m_{h_d}^2 + m_s^2\Big)\lambda \operatorname{Tr}\Big(Y_uY_u^{\dagger}\Big) + T_\lambda \operatorname{Tr}\Big(T_u^*Y_u^T\Big) + \lambda \operatorname{Tr}\Big(T_u^*T_u^T\Big)$$

$$+ \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \left(m_q^2 Y_u^{\dagger} Y_u \right) + \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \left(m_u^2 Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} \right) \right)$$
(A.50)

$$\Delta \beta_{m_{h_u}}^{(1)} = 2 \Big(\Big(m_{h_d}^2 + m_{h_u}^2 + m_s^2 \Big) |\lambda|^2 + |T_\lambda|^2 \Big)$$
(A.51)

$$\begin{split} \Delta\beta_{m_{h_u}^{(2)}}^{(2)} &= -2\Big(6\Big(m_{h_d}^2 + m_{h_u}^2 + m_s^2\Big)|\lambda|^4 + T_\lambda^*\Big(\lambda\Big(3\mathrm{Tr}\Big(Y_d^{\dagger}T_d\Big) + \mathrm{Tr}\Big(Y_e^{\dagger}T_e\Big)\Big) \\ &+ T_\lambda\Big(3\mathrm{Tr}\Big(Y_dY_d^{\dagger}\Big) + \mathrm{Tr}\Big(Y_eY_e^{\dagger}\Big)\Big)\Big) + \lambda^*\Big(12\lambda|T_\lambda|^2 \\ &+ 3\Big(2m_{h_d}^2 + m_{h_u}^2 + m_s^2\Big)\lambda\mathrm{Tr}\Big(Y_dY_d^{\dagger}\Big) + 2m_{h_d}^2\lambda\mathrm{Tr}\Big(Y_eY_e^{\dagger}\Big) + m_{h_u}^2\lambda\mathrm{Tr}\Big(Y_eY_e^{\dagger}\Big) \\ &+ m_s^2\lambda\mathrm{Tr}\Big(Y_eY_e^{\dagger}\Big) + 3T_\lambda\mathrm{Tr}\Big(T_d^*Y_d^{\dagger}\Big) + 3\lambda\mathrm{Tr}\Big(T_d^*T_d^{\dagger}\Big) + T_\lambda\mathrm{Tr}\Big(T_e^*Y_e^{T}\Big) + \lambda\mathrm{Tr}\Big(T_e^*T_e^{T}\Big) \\ &+ 3\lambda\mathrm{Tr}\Big(m_d^2Y_dY_d^{\dagger}\Big) + \lambda\mathrm{Tr}\Big(m_e^2Y_eY_e^{\dagger}\Big) + \lambda\mathrm{Tr}\Big(m_l^2Y_e^{\dagger}Y_e\Big) + 3\lambda\mathrm{Tr}\Big(m_q^2Y_d^{\dagger}Y_d\Big)\Big)\Big) \quad (A.52) \\ \Delta\beta_{m_d^2}^{(2)} &= -2\Big(2T_\lambda^*\Big(\lambda T_dY_d^{\dagger} + Y_dY_d^{\dagger}T_\lambda\Big) + \lambda^*\Big(2\Big(2m_{h_d}^2 + m_{h_u}^2 + m_s^2\Big)\lambda Y_dY_d^{\dagger} \\ &+ \lambda\Big(2T_sT_s^{\dagger} + 2Y_sm_s^{2}Y_s^{\dagger} + m_s^{2}Y_sY_s^{\dagger} + Y_sY_s^{\dagger}m_s^2\Big) + 2Y_sT_s^{\dagger}T_s\Big)\Big)$$

$$+\lambda \left(2T_d T_d^{\dagger} + 2Y_d m_q^2 Y_d^{\dagger} + m_d^2 Y_d Y_d^{\dagger} + Y_d Y_d^{\dagger} m_d^2\right) + 2Y_d T_d^{\dagger} T_\lambda\right)\right)$$
(A.53)
$$\Delta \beta^{(2)}_{\ \ 2} = -2 \left(2T_\lambda^* \left(\lambda T_u Y_u^{\dagger} + Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} T_\lambda\right) + \lambda^* \left(2 \left(2m_h^2 + m_h^2 + m_h^2\right) \lambda Y_u Y_u^{\dagger}\right)\right)$$

$$\Delta \beta_{m_u^2} = -2\left(2I_\lambda\left(\lambda I_u I_u^\dagger + I_u I_u^\dagger I_\lambda\right) + \lambda\left(2\left(2m_{h_u} + m_{h_d} + m_s\right)\lambda I_u I_u^\dagger\right) + \lambda\left(2T_u T_u^\dagger + 2Y_u m_q^2 Y_u^\dagger + m_u^2 Y_u Y_u^\dagger + Y_u Y_u^\dagger m_u^2\right) + 2Y_u T_u^\dagger T_\lambda\right)\right)$$
(A.54)

$$\Delta \beta_{m_e^2}^{(2)} = -2 \Big(2T_\lambda^* \Big(\lambda T_e Y_e^{\dagger} + Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} T_\lambda \Big) + \lambda^* \Big(2 \Big(2m_{h_d}^2 + m_{h_u}^2 + m_s^2 \Big) \lambda Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} \\ + \lambda \Big(2T_e T_e^{\dagger} + 2Y_e m_l^2 Y_e^{\dagger} + m_e^2 Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} + Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} m_e^2 \Big) + 2Y_e T_e^{\dagger} T_\lambda \Big) \Big)$$
(A.55)

$$\beta_{m_s^2}^{(1)} = 4\left(\left(m_{h_d}^2 + m_{h_u}^2 + m_s^2\right)|\lambda|^2 + |T_\lambda|^2\right)$$
(A.56)
$$\beta_{m_s^2}^{(2)} = \frac{4}{2}\left(20\left(-\frac{2}{2} + -\frac{2}{2}\right)+\frac{2}{2}\right)|\lambda|^4$$

$$\begin{split} \beta_{m_s^2}^{[2]} &= -\frac{1}{5} \Big(20 \Big(m_{h_d}^2 + m_{h_u}^2 + m_s^2 \Big) |\lambda|^4 \\ &+ T_{\lambda}^* \Big(T_{\lambda} \Big(15 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_d T_d \Big) + 3 \Big(5g_2^2 - 5 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_u T_u \Big) + g_1^2 \Big) + 5 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_e Y_e^\dagger \Big) \Big) \\ &+ \lambda \Big(15 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_d^\dagger T_d \Big) + 3 \Big(5g_2^2 M_2 + 5 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_u^\dagger T_u \Big) + g_1^2 M_1 \Big) + 5 \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_e^\dagger T_e \Big) \Big) \Big) \\ &+ \lambda^* \Big(- 3g_1^2 m_{h_d}^2 \lambda - 15g_2^2 m_{h_d}^2 \lambda - 3g_1^2 m_{h_u}^2 \lambda - 15g_2^2 m_{h_u}^2 \lambda - 3g_1^2 m_s^2 \lambda - 15g_2^2 m_s^2 \lambda \\ &+ 40\lambda |T_{\lambda}|^2 + 3g_1^2 M_1^* \Big(T_{\lambda} - 2M_1 \lambda \Big) + 15g_2^2 M_2^* \Big(T_{\lambda} - 2M_2 \lambda \Big) + 30m_{h_d}^2 \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_d Y_d^\dagger \Big) \\ &+ 15m_{h_u}^2 \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_d Y_d^\dagger \Big) + 15m_s^2 \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_d Y_d^\dagger \Big) + 10m_{h_d}^2 \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_e Y_e^\dagger \Big) + 5m_{h_u}^2 \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_e Y_e^\dagger \Big) \\ &+ 5m_s^2 \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_d Y_d^\dagger \Big) + 15m_{h_d}^2 \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_u Y_u^\dagger \Big) + 30m_{h_u}^2 \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_u Y_u^\dagger \Big) + 15m_s^2 \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(Y_u Y_u^\dagger \Big) \\ &+ 5T_{\lambda} \mathrm{Tr} \Big(3T_d^* Y_d^T + 3T_u^* Y_u^T + T_e^* Y_e^T \Big) + 5\lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(3T_d^* T_d^T + T_e^* T_e^T + 3T_u^* T_u^T \Big) \\ &+ 5\lambda \mathrm{Tr} \Big(3m_d^2 Y_d Y_d^\dagger + m_e^2 Y_e Y_e^\dagger + m_l^2 Y_e^\dagger Y_e + 3m_q^2 Y_d^\dagger Y_d + 3m_q^2 Y_u^\dagger Y_u + 3m_u^2 Y_u Y_u^\dagger \Big) \Big) \Big) \\ \beta_{m_s^2}^{(1)} = 0 \tag{A.58} \\ \beta_{m_s^2}^{(2)} = 0 \end{aligned}$$

A.10 Vacuum expectation values

$$\Delta \beta_{v_d}^{(1)} = -v_d |\lambda|^2 \tag{A.60}$$

$$\Delta \beta_{v_d}^{(2)} = \frac{3}{10} v_d |\lambda|^2 \left(10|\lambda|^2 + 10 \text{Tr} \left(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} \right) - \left(5g_2^2 + g_1^2 \right) \xi \right)$$
(A.61)
$$\Delta \beta^{(1)} = -v_1 |\lambda|^2$$
(A.62)

$$\Delta \beta_{v_u}^{(2)} = -v_u |\lambda|^2$$
(A.62)
$$\Delta \beta_{v_u}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{10} v_u |\lambda|^2 \Big(10 \text{Tr} \Big(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger} \Big) + 30 |\lambda|^2 + 30 \text{Tr} \Big(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger} \Big) - 3(g_1^2 + 5g_2^2) \xi \Big)$$
(A.63)

$$\beta_{v_s}^{(1)} = -2v_s |\lambda|^2$$
(A.64)

$$\beta_{v_s}^{(2)} = \frac{2}{5} v_s |\lambda|^2 \left(10|\lambda|^2 - 15g_2^2 + 5\left(3\text{Tr}\left(Y_d Y_d^{\dagger}\right) + 3\text{Tr}\left(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger}\right) + \text{Tr}\left(Y_e Y_e^{\dagger}\right) \right) - 3g_1^2 \right) \quad (A.65)$$

$$\beta^{(1)} = 0 \qquad (A.66)$$

$$\beta_{v_{\bar{s}}}^{(2)} = 0 \tag{A.66}$$

$$\beta_{v_{\tilde{s}}}^{(2)} = 0 \tag{A.67}$$

B Mass matrices

• Mass matrix for Charginos. Basis: $\left(\tilde{W}^{-}, \tilde{H}_{d}^{-}\right), \left(\tilde{W}^{+}, \tilde{H}_{u}^{+}\right)$

$$m_{\tilde{\chi}^-} = \begin{pmatrix} M_2 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}g_2 v_u \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}g_2 v_d & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_s \lambda + \mu \end{pmatrix}$$
(B.1)

This matrix is diagonalized by U and V

$$U^* m_{\tilde{\chi}^-} V^{\dagger} = m_{\tilde{\chi}^-}^{dia} \tag{B.2}$$

• Mass matrix for CP odd Higgs. Basis: $(\sigma_d, \sigma_u, \sigma_s, \sigma_{\bar{s}})$ In Landau gauge the mass matrix is given by

$$m_{A^{0}}^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} m_{\sigma_{d}\sigma_{d}} & m_{\sigma_{u}\sigma_{d}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_{u}\Re\left(T_{\lambda}\right) & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_{u}\Re\left(\lambda M_{s}^{*}\right) \\ m_{\sigma_{d}\sigma_{u}} & m_{\sigma_{u}\sigma_{u}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_{d}\Re\left(T_{\lambda}\right) & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_{d}\Re\left(\lambda M_{s}^{*}\right) \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_{u}\Re\left(T_{\lambda}\right) & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_{d}\Re\left(T_{\lambda}\right) & m_{\sigma_{s}\sigma_{s}} & -\Re\left(b_{s}\right) \\ -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_{u}\Re\left(\lambda M_{s}^{*}\right) & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_{d}\Re\left(\lambda M_{s}^{*}\right) & -\Re\left(b_{s}\right) & m_{s}^{2} + |M_{s}|^{2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B.3)

with

$$m_{\sigma_d\sigma_d} = |\mu|^2 + \sqrt{2}v_s \Re(\lambda\mu^*) + \left(v_s^2 + v_u^2\right) \frac{|\lambda|^2}{2} + \frac{1}{8} \left(g_1^2 + g_2^2\right) \left(v_d^2 - v_u^2\right) + m_{h_d}^2 \tag{B.4}$$

$$m_{\sigma_d \sigma_u} = \frac{1}{4} \Big(4\Re \Big(B\mu \Big) + 4\Re \Big(\lambda \xi_s^* \Big) + \sqrt{2} \Big(2v_{\bar{s}} \Re \Big(\lambda M_s^* \Big) + 2v_s \Re \Big(T_\lambda \Big) \Big) \Big)$$
(B.5)

$$m_{\sigma_u \sigma_u} = |\mu|^2 + \sqrt{2}v_s \Re(\lambda \mu^*) + \left(v_d^2 + v_s^2\right) \frac{|\lambda|^2}{2} - \frac{1}{8} \left(g_1^2 + g_2^2\right) \left(v_d^2 - v_u^2\right) + m_{h_u}^2 \tag{B.6}$$

$$m_{\sigma_s \sigma_s} = \frac{1}{2} \left(v_d^2 + v_u^2 \right) |\lambda|^2 + m_s^2 + |M_s|^2$$
(B.7)

The gauge fixing part is the same as in the MSSM:

$$m^{2}(\xi_{Z}) = \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} v_{d}^{2} & -v_{d}v_{u} & 0 & 0\\ -v_{d}v_{u} & v_{u}^{2} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \left(g_{1}\sin\Theta_{W} + g_{2}\cos\Theta_{W} \right)^{2}$$
(B.8)

This matrix is diagonalized by Z^A :

$$Z^A m_{A^0}^2 Z^{A,\dagger} = m_{2,A^0}^{dia} \tag{B.9}$$

• Mass matrix for charged Higgs. Basis: $(H_d^-, H_u^{+,*}), (H_d^{-,*}, H_u^+)$

$$m_{H^{-}}^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} m_{H_{d}^{-}H_{d}^{-,*}} & m_{H_{u}^{+,*}H_{d}^{-,*}}^{*} \\ m_{H_{d}^{-}H_{u}^{+}} & m_{H_{u}^{+,*}H_{u}^{+}} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B.10)

with

$$m_{H_d^- H_d^{-,*}} = |\mu|^2 + \sqrt{2} v_s \Re(\lambda \mu^*) + v_s^2 \frac{|\lambda|^2}{2} + \frac{1}{8} \left(g_1^2 \left(v_d^2 - v_u^2 \right) + g_2^2 \left(v_d^2 + v_u^2 \right) \right) + m_{h_d}^2$$
(B.11)

$$m_{H_d^- H_u^+} = \frac{1}{4} g_2^2 v_d v_u + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} v_s T_\lambda + \lambda \left(-\frac{1}{2} v_d v_u \lambda^* + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} v_{\bar{s}} M_s^* + \xi_s^* \right) + B\mu$$
(B.12)

$$m_{H_u^{+,*}H_u^{+}} = |\mu|^2 + \sqrt{2}v_s \Re(\lambda\mu^*) + v_s^2 \frac{|\lambda|^2}{2} + \frac{1}{8} \left(g_1^2 \left(v_u^2 - v_d^2 \right) + g_2^2 \left(v_d^2 + v_u^2 \right) \right) + m_{h_u}^2$$
(B.13)

and

$$m^{2}(\xi_{W^{-}}) = \frac{1}{4}g_{2}^{2} \begin{pmatrix} v_{d}^{2} & -v_{d}v_{u} \\ -v_{d}v_{u} & v_{u}^{2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B.14)

This matrix is diagonalized by Z^+ :

$$Z^{+}m_{H^{-}}^{2}Z^{+,\dagger} = m_{2,H^{-}}^{dia}$$
(B.15)

C Vertices

We give here the difference of Higgs and neutralino vertices in comparison to the MSSM. The shown expressions are understood as

$$\Delta\Gamma_{\rm fields} = \Gamma_{\rm fields}^{\rm DiracNMSSM} - \Gamma_{\rm fields}^{\rm MSSM}$$
(C.1)

Chiral vertices are parametrized by

$$\Gamma_{\text{fields}}^L P_L + \Gamma_{\text{fields}}^R P_R \tag{C.2}$$

with the projection operators P_L and P_R .

C.1 Interactions with Fermions

$$\Delta\Gamma^{L}_{\tilde{\chi}^{+}_{i}\tilde{\chi}^{-}_{j}A^{0}_{k}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\lambda U^{*}_{j2}V^{*}_{i2}Z^{A}_{k3} \tag{C.3}$$

$$\Delta\Gamma^{R}_{\tilde{\chi}_{i}^{+}\tilde{\chi}_{j}^{-}A_{k}^{0}} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\lambda^{*}U_{i2}V_{j2}Z_{k3}^{A}$$
(C.4)

$$\Delta\Gamma^{L}_{\tilde{\chi}^{0}_{i}\tilde{\chi}^{0}_{j}A^{0}_{k}} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\lambda \left(N^{*}_{i3} \left(N^{*}_{j4}Z^{A}_{k3} + N^{*}_{j5}Z^{A}_{k2} \right) + N^{*}_{i4} \left(N^{*}_{j3}Z^{A}_{k3} + N^{*}_{j5}Z^{A}_{k1} \right) + N^{*}_{i5} \left(N^{*}_{j3}Z^{A}_{k2} + N^{*}_{j4}Z^{A}_{k1} \right) \right)$$
(C.5)

$$\Delta \Gamma^{R}_{\tilde{\chi}^{0}_{i}\tilde{\chi}^{0}_{j}A^{0}_{k}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \lambda^{*} \Big(Z^{A}_{k1} \Big(N_{i4}N_{j5} + N_{i5}N_{j4} \Big) \\ + Z^{A}_{k2} \Big(N_{i3}N_{j5} + N_{i5}N_{j3} \Big) + Z^{A}_{k3} \Big(N_{i3}N_{j4} + N_{i4}N_{j3} \Big) \Big)$$
(C.6)

$$\Delta\Gamma^{L}_{\tilde{\chi}^{0}_{i}\tilde{\chi}^{-}_{j}H^{+}_{k}} = -i\lambda U^{*}_{j2}N^{*}_{i5}Z^{+}_{k2}$$
(C.7)

$$\Delta\Gamma^{R}_{\tilde{\chi}^{0}_{i}\tilde{\chi}^{-}_{j}H^{+}_{k}} = -i\lambda^{*}V_{j2}N_{i5}Z^{+}_{k1} \tag{C.8}$$

$$\Delta\Gamma^{L}_{\tilde{\chi}^{+}_{i}\tilde{\chi}^{-}_{j}h_{k}} = -i\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\lambda U^{*}_{j2}V^{*}_{i2}Z^{H}_{k3}$$
(C.9)

$$\Delta \Gamma^{R}_{\tilde{\chi}_{i}^{+}\tilde{\chi}_{j}^{-}h_{k}} = -i\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\lambda^{*}U_{i2}V_{j2}Z^{H}_{k3}$$
(C.10)

$$\Delta\Gamma^{L}_{\tilde{\chi}^{0}_{i}\tilde{\chi}^{0}_{j}h_{k}} = i\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\lambda\left(N^{*}_{i3}\left(N^{*}_{j4}Z^{H}_{k3} + N^{*}_{j5}Z^{H}_{k2}\right) + N^{*}_{i4}\left(N^{*}_{j3}Z^{H}_{k3} + N^{*}_{j5}Z^{H}_{k1}\right) + N^{*}_{i5}\left(N^{*}_{j3}Z^{H}_{k2} + N^{*}_{j4}Z^{H}_{k1}\right)\right) \quad (C.11)$$

$$\Delta\Gamma^{R}_{\tilde{\chi}^{0}_{i}\tilde{\chi}^{0}_{j}h_{k}} = i\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\lambda^{*} \left(Z^{H}_{k1} \left(N_{i4}N_{j5} + N_{i5}N_{j4} \right) + Z^{H}_{k2} \left(N_{i3}N_{j5} + N_{i5}N_{j3} \right) + Z^{H}_{k3} \left(N_{i3}N_{j4} + N_{i4}N_{j3} \right) \right)$$
(C.12)

$$\Delta\Gamma^{L}_{\tilde{\chi}^{+}_{i}\tilde{\chi}^{0}_{j}H^{-}_{k}} = -i\lambda V^{*}_{i2}N^{*}_{j5}Z^{+,*}_{k1}$$
(C.13)

$$\Delta \Gamma^{R}_{\tilde{\chi}_{i}^{+}\tilde{\chi}_{j}^{0}H_{k}^{-}} = -i\lambda^{*}Z_{k2}^{+,*}U_{i2}N_{j5}$$
(C.14)

C.2 Three scalar interactions

$$\begin{split} \Delta\Gamma_{A_{i}^{0}A_{j}^{0}h_{k}} &= -\frac{i}{4} \Big(\lambda^{*} \Big(4\lambda Z_{i3}^{A} Z_{j3}^{A} \Big(v_{d} Z_{k1}^{H} + v_{u} Z_{k2}^{H} \Big) + 2Z_{i1}^{A} Z_{j1}^{A} \Big(\Big(2v_{s}\lambda + \sqrt{2}\mu \Big) Z_{k3}^{H} + 2v_{u}\lambda Z_{k2}^{H} \Big) \\ &+ Z_{i2}^{A} \Big(2Z_{j2}^{A} \Big(2v_{d}\lambda Z_{k1}^{H} + \Big(2v_{s}\lambda + \sqrt{2}\mu \Big) Z_{k3}^{H} \Big) + \sqrt{2}M_{s} \Big(Z_{j1}^{A} Z_{k4}^{H} - Z_{j4}^{A} Z_{k1}^{H} \Big) \Big) \\ &- \sqrt{2}M_{s} \Big(Z_{i1}^{A} \Big(- Z_{j2}^{A} Z_{k4}^{H} + Z_{j4}^{A} Z_{k2}^{H} \Big) + Z_{i4}^{A} \Big(Z_{j1}^{A} Z_{k2}^{H} + Z_{j2}^{A} Z_{k1}^{H} \Big) \Big) \Big) \\ &+ \sqrt{2} \Big(T_{\lambda}^{*} \Big(\Big(Z_{i1}^{A} Z_{j2}^{A} + Z_{i2}^{A} Z_{j1}^{A} \Big) Z_{k3}^{H} + Z_{i3}^{A} \Big(Z_{j1}^{A} Z_{k2}^{H} + Z_{j2}^{A} Z_{k1}^{H} \Big) + Z_{j3}^{A} \Big(Z_{i1}^{A} Z_{k2}^{H} + Z_{i2}^{A} Z_{k1}^{H} \Big) \Big) \\ &+ T_{\lambda} \Big(\Big(Z_{i1}^{A} Z_{j2}^{A} + Z_{i2}^{A} Z_{j1}^{A} \Big) Z_{k3}^{H} + Z_{i3}^{A} \Big(Z_{j1}^{A} Z_{k2}^{H} + Z_{j2}^{A} Z_{k1}^{H} \Big) + Z_{j3}^{A} \Big(Z_{i1}^{A} Z_{k2}^{H} + Z_{i2}^{A} Z_{k1}^{H} \Big) \Big) \\ &+ \lambda \Big(2\mu^{*} \Big(Z_{i1}^{A} Z_{j1}^{A} + Z_{i2}^{A} Z_{j2}^{A} \Big) Z_{k3}^{H} + M_{s}^{*} \Big(\Big(Z_{i1}^{A} Z_{j2}^{A} + Z_{i2}^{A} Z_{j1}^{A} \Big) Z_{k4}^{H} - \Big(Z_{i1}^{A} Z_{j4}^{A} + Z_{i4}^{A} Z_{j1}^{A} \Big) Z_{k2}^{H} \\ &- \Big(Z_{i2}^{A} Z_{j4}^{A} + Z_{i4}^{A} Z_{j2}^{A} \Big) Z_{k1}^{H} \Big) \Big) \Big) \Big) \tag{C.15}$$

$$\Delta\Gamma_{A_{i}^{0}\tilde{d}_{j\beta}\tilde{d}_{k\gamma}^{*}} = \frac{1}{2}\delta_{\beta\gamma}\Big(-\lambda\sum_{b=1}^{3}\sum_{a=1}^{3}Y_{d,ab}^{*}Z_{j3+a}^{D,*}Z_{kb}^{D} + \lambda^{*}\sum_{b=1}^{3}Z_{jb}^{D,*}\sum_{a=1}^{3}Y_{d,ab}Z_{k3+a}^{D}\Big)\Big(v_{s}Z_{i2}^{A} + v_{u}Z_{i3}^{A}\Big)$$
(C.16)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{A_i^0\tilde{e}_j\tilde{e}_k^*} = \frac{1}{2} \Big(-\lambda \sum_{b=1}^3 \sum_{a=1}^3 Y_{e,ab}^* Z_{j3+a}^{E,*} Z_{kb}^E + \lambda^* \sum_{b=1}^3 Z_{jb}^{E,*} \sum_{a=1}^3 Y_{e,ab} Z_{k3+a}^E \Big) \Big(v_s Z_{i2}^A + v_u Z_{i3}^A \Big) \quad (C.17)$$

$$\Delta \Gamma_{A_{i}^{0}\tilde{u}_{j\beta}\tilde{u}_{k\gamma}^{*}} = \frac{1}{2} \delta_{\beta\gamma} \Big(-\lambda \sum_{b=1}^{} \sum_{a=1}^{} Y_{u,ab}^{*} Z_{j3+a}^{U,*} Z_{kb}^{U} + \lambda^{*} \sum_{b=1}^{} Z_{jb}^{U,*} \sum_{a=1}^{} Y_{u,ab} Z_{k3+a}^{U} \Big) \Big(v_{d} Z_{i3}^{A} + v_{s} Z_{i1}^{A} \Big)$$
(C.18)

$$\Delta \Gamma_{h_{i}h_{j}h_{k}} = \frac{i}{4} \Big(-\lambda^{*} \Big(2Z_{i1}^{H} \Big(2\lambda Z_{j2}^{H} \Big(v_{d} Z_{k2}^{H} + v_{u} Z_{k1}^{H} \Big) + Z_{j3}^{H} \Big(2v_{d} \lambda Z_{k3}^{H} + \Big(2v_{s} \lambda + \sqrt{2}\mu \Big) Z_{k1}^{H} \Big) \\ + Z_{j1}^{H} \Big(\Big(2v_{s} \lambda + \sqrt{2}\mu \Big) Z_{k3}^{H} + 2v_{u} \lambda Z_{k2}^{H} \Big) \Big) + 2Z_{i3}^{H} \Big(\sqrt{2}\mu \Big(Z_{j1}^{H} Z_{k1}^{H} + Z_{j2}^{H} Z_{k2}^{H} \Big) \\ + 2\lambda \Big(Z_{j1}^{H} \Big(v_{d} Z_{k3}^{H} + v_{s} Z_{k1}^{H} \Big) + Z_{j2}^{H} \Big(v_{s} Z_{k2}^{H} + v_{u} Z_{k3}^{H} \Big) + Z_{j3}^{H} \Big(v_{d} Z_{k1}^{H} + v_{u} Z_{k2}^{H} \Big) \Big) \Big) \\ + Z_{i2}^{H} \Big(-\sqrt{2}M_{s} Z_{j4}^{H} Z_{k1}^{H} + 2Z_{j3}^{H} \Big(\Big(2v_{s} \lambda + \sqrt{2}\mu \Big) Z_{k2}^{H} + 2v_{u} \lambda Z_{k3}^{H} \Big) \\ + 2Z_{j2}^{H} \Big(2v_{d} \lambda Z_{k1}^{H} + \Big(2v_{s} \lambda + \sqrt{2}\mu \Big) Z_{k3}^{H} \Big) + Z_{j1}^{H} \Big(4v_{d} \lambda Z_{k2}^{H} + 4v_{u} \lambda Z_{k1}^{H} - \sqrt{2}M_{s} Z_{k4}^{H} \Big) \Big) \\ - \sqrt{2}M_{s} \Big(Z_{i1}^{H} \Big(Z_{j2}^{H} Z_{k4}^{H} + Z_{j4}^{H} Z_{k2}^{H} \Big) + Z_{i4}^{H} \Big(Z_{j1}^{H} Z_{k2}^{H} + Z_{j2}^{H} Z_{k1}^{H} \Big) \Big) \Big) \\ + \sqrt{2} \Big(\Big(T_{\lambda}^{*} + T_{\lambda} \Big) \Big(Z_{i1}^{H} \Big(Z_{i2}^{H} Z_{k3}^{H} + Z_{i3}^{H} Z_{i2}^{H} \Big) + Z_{i2}^{H} \Big(Z_{j1}^{H} Z_{k3}^{H} + Z_{j3}^{H} Z_{k1}^{H} \Big) + Z_{i3}^{H} \Big(Z_{i1}^{H} Z_{k2}^{H} + Z_{j2}^{H} Z_{k1}^{H} \Big) \Big) \Big) \\ + \lambda \Big(- 2\mu^{*} \Big(\Big(Z_{i1}^{H} Z_{j1}^{H} + Z_{i2}^{H} Z_{j2}^{H} \Big) Z_{k3}^{H} + Z_{i3}^{H} \Big(Z_{j1}^{H} Z_{k1}^{H} + Z_{j2}^{H} Z_{k2}^{H} \Big) + Z_{j3}^{H} \Big(Z_{i1}^{H} Z_{k1}^{H} + Z_{i2}^{H} Z_{k1}^{H} \Big) \Big) \Big) \Big) \Big) \\ + M_{s}^{*} \Big(\Big(Z_{i1}^{H} Z_{j1}^{H} + Z_{i2}^{H} Z_{j1}^{H} \Big) Z_{k4}^{H} + Z_{i4}^{H} \Big(Z_{j1}^{H} Z_{k2}^{H} + Z_{j2}^{H} Z_{k1}^{H} \Big) + Z_{j4}^{H} \Big(Z_{i1}^{H} Z_{k2}^{H} + Z_{i2}^{H} Z_{k1}^{H} \Big) \Big) \Big) \Big) \Big) \Big) \Big)$$

$$(C.19)$$

$$\Delta\Gamma_{h_{i}H_{j}^{-}H_{k}^{+}} = -\frac{i}{2} \Big(\sqrt{2} \Big(\lambda \mu^{*} Z_{i3}^{H} \Big(Z_{j1}^{+,*} Z_{k1}^{+} + Z_{j2}^{+,*} Z_{k2}^{+} \Big) + T_{\lambda}^{*} Z_{j2}^{+,*} Z_{i3}^{H} Z_{k1}^{+} \\ + Z_{j1}^{+,*} \Big(\lambda M_{s}^{*} Z_{i4}^{H} + T_{\lambda} Z_{i3}^{H} \Big) Z_{k2}^{+} \Big) + \lambda^{*} \Big(Z_{j1}^{+,*} \Big(\Big(2v_{s}\lambda + \sqrt{2}\mu \Big) Z_{i3}^{H} Z_{k1}^{+} - \lambda \Big(v_{d} Z_{i2}^{H} + v_{u} Z_{i1}^{H} \Big) Z_{k2}^{+} \Big) \\ + Z_{j2}^{+,*} \Big(2v_{s}\lambda Z_{i3}^{H} Z_{k2}^{+} + \sqrt{2}M_{s} Z_{i4}^{H} Z_{k1}^{+} + \sqrt{2}\mu Z_{i3}^{H} Z_{k2}^{+} - v_{d}\lambda Z_{i2}^{H} Z_{k1}^{+} - v_{u}\lambda Z_{i1}^{H} Z_{k1}^{+} \Big) \Big) \Big)$$
(C.20)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{h_i\tilde{d}_{j\beta}\tilde{d}^*_{k\gamma}} = \frac{i}{2}\delta_{\beta\gamma} \Big(\lambda \sum_{b=1}^3 \sum_{a=1}^3 Y^*_{d,ab} Z^{D,*}_{j3+a} Z^D_{kb} + \lambda^* \sum_{b=1}^3 Z^{D,*}_{jb} \sum_{a=1}^3 Y^{d,ab} Z^D_{k3+a} \Big) \Big(v_s Z^H_{i2} + v_u Z^H_{i3} \Big) \left(C.21\right)$$

$$\Delta\Gamma_{h_i\tilde{e}_j\tilde{e}_k^*} = \frac{i}{2} \left(\lambda \sum_{b=1}^3 \sum_{a=1}^3 Y_{e,ab}^* Z_{j3+a}^{E,*} Z_{kb}^E + \lambda^* \sum_{b=1}^3 Z_{jb}^{E,*} \sum_{a=1}^3 Y_{e,ab} Z_{k3+a}^E \right) \left(v_s Z_{i2}^H + v_u Z_{i3}^H \right)$$
(C.22)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{h_{i}\tilde{u}_{j\beta}\tilde{u}_{k\gamma}^{*}} = \frac{i}{2}\delta_{\beta\gamma} \Big(\lambda \sum_{b=1}^{3} \sum_{a=1}^{3} Y_{u,ab}^{*} Z_{j3+a}^{U,*} Z_{kb}^{U} + \lambda^{*} \sum_{b=1}^{3} Z_{jb}^{U,*} \sum_{a=1}^{3} Y_{u,ab} Z_{k3+a}^{U} \Big) \Big(v_{d} Z_{i3}^{H} + v_{s} Z_{i1}^{H} \Big)$$
(C.23)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{H_i^-\tilde{u}_{j\beta}\tilde{d}_{k\gamma}^*} = i\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_s\delta_{\beta\gamma} \left(\lambda Z_{i1}^{+,*}\sum_{b=1}^3\sum_{a=1}^3 Y_{u,ab}^* Z_{j3+a}^{U,*} Z_{kb}^D + \lambda^* Z_{i2}^{+,*}\sum_{b=1}^3 Z_{jb}^{U,*}\sum_{a=1}^3 Y_{d,ab} Z_{k3+a}^D\right) (C.24)$$

$$\Delta\Gamma_{H_i^-\tilde{\nu}_j\tilde{e}_k^*} = i\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_s\lambda^* Z_{i2}^{+,*} \sum_{b=1}^5 Z_{jb}^{V,*} \sum_{a=1}^5 Y_{e,ab} Z_{k3+a}^E$$
(C.25)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{\tilde{d}_{i\alpha}H_{j}^{+}\tilde{u}_{k\gamma}^{*}} = i\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_{s}\delta_{\alpha\gamma}\left(\lambda\sum_{b=1}^{3}\sum_{a=1}^{3}Y_{d,ab}^{*}Z_{i3+a}^{D,*}Z_{kb}^{U}Z_{j2}^{+} + \lambda^{*}\sum_{b=1}^{3}Z_{ib}^{D,*}\sum_{a=1}^{3}Y_{u,ab}Z_{k3+a}^{U}Z_{j1}^{+}\right) \quad (C.26)$$

$$\Delta\Gamma_{\tilde{e}_i H_j^+ \tilde{\nu}_k^*} = i \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} v_s \lambda \sum_{b=1}^3 \sum_{a=1}^3 Y_{e,ab}^* Z_{i3+a}^{E,*} Z_{kb}^V Z_{j2}^+ \tag{C.27}$$

C.3 Four scalar interactions

$$\begin{split} \Delta\Gamma_{A_{i}^{0}A_{j}^{0}A_{k}^{0}A_{l}^{0}} &= -i|\lambda|^{2} \times \\ & \left(Z_{i3}^{A} \left(Z_{k1}^{A} Z_{i3}^{A} + Z_{k3}^{A} Z_{l1}^{A} \right) + Z_{j2}^{A} \left(Z_{k2}^{A} Z_{l3}^{A} + Z_{k3}^{A} Z_{l2}^{A} \right) + Z_{j3}^{A} \left(Z_{k1}^{A} Z_{l1}^{A} + Z_{k2}^{A} Z_{l2}^{A} \right) \right) \\ & + Z_{i2}^{A} \left(Z_{j1}^{A} \left(Z_{k1}^{A} Z_{l2}^{A} + Z_{k2}^{A} Z_{l1}^{A} \right) + Z_{j2}^{A} \left(Z_{k1}^{A} Z_{l1}^{A} + Z_{k3}^{A} Z_{l3}^{A} \right) + Z_{j3}^{A} \left(Z_{k2}^{A} Z_{l3}^{A} + Z_{k3}^{A} Z_{l2}^{A} \right) \right) \\ & + Z_{i1}^{A} \left(Z_{j1}^{A} \left(Z_{k1}^{A} Z_{l2}^{A} + Z_{k2}^{A} Z_{l1}^{A} \right) + Z_{j2}^{A} \left(Z_{k1}^{A} Z_{l1}^{A} + Z_{k3}^{A} Z_{l3}^{A} \right) + Z_{j3}^{A} \left(Z_{k2}^{A} Z_{l3}^{A} + Z_{k3}^{A} Z_{l2}^{A} \right) \right) \right) \\ & \Delta\Gamma_{A_{i}^{0} A_{j}^{0} h_{k} h_{l}} = -i|\lambda|^{2} \left(Z_{i3}^{A} Z_{j3}^{A} \left(Z_{k1}^{H} Z_{l1}^{H} + Z_{k2}^{H} Z_{l2}^{H} \right) + Z_{i2}^{A} Z_{j2}^{A} \left(Z_{k1}^{H} Z_{l1}^{H} + Z_{k3}^{H} Z_{l3}^{H} \right) \right) \\ & \Delta\Gamma_{A_{i}^{0} A_{j}^{0} h_{k} h_{l}} = -i|\lambda|^{2} \left(Z_{k1}^{A} Z_{j3}^{A} \left(Z_{k1}^{H} Z_{l1}^{H} + Z_{k2}^{H} Z_{l2}^{H} \right) + Z_{i2}^{A} Z_{j2}^{A} \left(Z_{k1}^{H} Z_{l1}^{H} + Z_{k3}^{H} Z_{l3}^{H} \right) \right) \\ & \Delta\Gamma_{A_{i}^{0} A_{j}^{0} h_{k} h_{l}} = -\frac{i}{2} |\lambda|^{2} \left(Z_{k1}^{A} \left(Z_{k1}^{A} Z_{j3}^{A} Z_{l1}^{A} + \left(Z_{k2}^{A} Z_{j2}^{A} + Z_{k3}^{A} Z_{l3}^{H} \right) \right) \right) \\ & (C.29)$$

$$\sum_{A_{i}^{0}A_{j}^{0}H_{k}^{-}H_{l}^{+}} = \sum_{2} |X| \left(\sum_{k1} \left(\sum_{i3}^{3} \sum_{j3}^{3} \sum_{l1}^{1} + \left(\sum_{i1}^{3} \sum_{j2}^{4} + \sum_{i2}^{3} \sum_{l1}^{3} \right) \right) + \sum_{k2} \left(\sum_{i3}^{4} \sum_{j3}^{4} \sum_{l2}^{4} + \sum_{i1}^{4} \sum_{j2}^{4} \sum_{l1}^{4} + \sum_{i2}^{4} \sum_{j1}^{4} \sum_{l1}^{4} \right) \right)$$

$$(C.30)$$

$$\Delta\Gamma_{A_{i}^{0}A_{j}^{0}\tilde{d}_{k\gamma}\tilde{d}_{l\delta}^{*}} = -\frac{i}{2}\delta_{\gamma\delta} \Big(\lambda \sum_{b=1}^{3} \sum_{a=1}^{3} Y_{d,ab}^{*} Z_{k3+a}^{D,*} Z_{lb}^{D} + \lambda^{*} \sum_{b=1}^{3} Z_{kb}^{D,*} \sum_{a=1}^{3} Y_{d,ab} Z_{l3+a}^{D} \Big) \Big(Z_{i2}^{A} Z_{j3}^{A} + Z_{i3}^{A} Z_{j2}^{A} \Big)$$
(C.31)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{A_{i}^{0}A_{j}^{0}\tilde{e}_{k}\tilde{e}_{l}^{*}} = -\frac{i}{2} \Big(\lambda \sum_{b=1}^{3} \sum_{a=1}^{3} Y_{e,ab}^{*} Z_{k3+a}^{E,*} Z_{lb}^{E} + \lambda^{*} \sum_{b=1}^{3} Z_{kb}^{E,*} \sum_{a=1}^{3} Y_{e,ab} Z_{l3+a}^{E} \Big) \Big(Z_{i2}^{A} Z_{j3}^{A} + Z_{i3}^{A} Z_{j2}^{A} \Big)$$
(C.32)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{A_{i}^{0}A_{j}^{0}\tilde{u}_{k\gamma}\tilde{u}_{l\delta}^{*}} = -\frac{i}{2}\delta_{\gamma\delta}\Big(\lambda\sum_{b=1}^{3}\sum_{a=1}^{3}Y_{u,ab}^{*}Z_{k3+a}^{U,*}Z_{lb}^{U} + \lambda^{*}\sum_{b=1}^{3}Z_{kb}^{U,*}\sum_{a=1}^{3}Y_{u,ab}Z_{l3+a}^{U}\Big)\Big(Z_{i1}^{A}Z_{j3}^{A} + Z_{i3}^{A}Z_{j1}^{A}\Big)$$
(C.33)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{A_{i}^{0}h_{j}H_{k}^{-}H_{l}^{+}} = -\frac{1}{2}|\lambda|^{2} \left(Z_{i1}^{A} Z_{j2}^{H} + Z_{i2}^{A} Z_{j1}^{H} \right) \left(-Z_{k1}^{+,*} Z_{l2}^{+} + Z_{k2}^{+,*} Z_{l1}^{+} \right)$$
(C.34)
$$\Delta\Gamma_{A_{i}^{0}h_{j}H_{k}^{-}H_{l}^{+}} = -\frac{1}{2}|\lambda|^{2} \left(Z_{i1}^{A} Z_{j2}^{H} + Z_{i2}^{A} Z_{j1}^{H} \right) \left(-Z_{k1}^{+,*} Z_{l2}^{+} + Z_{k2}^{+,*} Z_{l1}^{+} \right)$$
(C.34)

$$\Delta \Gamma_{A_i^0 H_j^- \tilde{u}_{k\gamma} \tilde{d}_{l\delta}^*} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \delta_{\gamma\delta} \Big(-\lambda Z_{j1}^{+,*} \sum_{b=1}^{\infty} \sum_{a=1}^{\infty} Y_{u,ab}^* Z_{k3+a}^{U,*} Z_{lb}^D + \lambda^* Z_{j2}^{+,*} \sum_{b=1}^{\infty} Z_{kb}^{U,*} \sum_{a=1}^{\infty} Y_{d,ab} Z_{l3+a}^D \Big) Z_{i3}^A$$
(C.35)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{A_i^0 H_j^- \tilde{\nu}_k \tilde{e}_l^*} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \lambda^* Z_{j2}^{+,*} \sum_{b=1}^3 Z_{kb}^{V,*} \sum_{a=1}^3 Y_{e,ab} Z_{l3+a}^E Z_{i3}^A \tag{C.36}$$

$$\Delta\Gamma_{A_{i}^{0}\tilde{d}_{j\beta}H_{k}^{+}\tilde{u}_{l\delta}^{*}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\delta_{\beta\delta}Z_{i3}^{A} \Big(-\lambda\sum_{b=1}^{3}\sum_{a=1}^{3}Y_{d,ab}^{*}Z_{j3+a}^{D,*}Z_{lb}^{U}Z_{k2}^{+} + \lambda^{*}\sum_{b=1}^{3}Z_{jb}^{D,*}\sum_{a=1}^{3}Y_{u,ab}Z_{l3+a}^{U}Z_{k1}^{+}\Big)$$
(C.37)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{A_i^0\tilde{e}_jH_k^+\tilde{\nu}_l^*} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\lambda\sum_{b=1}^3\sum_{a=1}^3 Y_{e,ab}^* Z_{j3+a}^{E,*} Z_{lb}^V Z_{i3}^A Z_{k2}^+$$
(C.38)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{h_{i}h_{j}H_{k}^{-}H_{l}^{+}} = \frac{i}{2}|\lambda|^{2} \Big(Z_{k1}^{+,*} \Big(-2Z_{l3}^{H}Z_{j3}^{H}Z_{l1}^{+} + \Big(Z_{l1}^{H}Z_{j2}^{H} + Z_{l2}^{H}Z_{j1}^{H} \Big) Z_{l2}^{+} \Big) + Z_{k2}^{+,*} \Big(-2Z_{l3}^{H}Z_{l3}^{H}Z_{l2}^{+} + Z_{l1}^{H}Z_{l2}^{H}Z_{l1}^{+} + Z_{l2}^{H}Z_{l1}^{H} \Big) \Big)$$
(C.40)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{h_{i}h_{j}\tilde{d}_{k\gamma}\tilde{d}_{l\delta}^{*}} = \frac{i}{2}\delta_{\gamma\delta} \Big(\lambda \sum_{b=1}^{3} \sum_{a=1}^{3} Y_{d,ab}^{*} Z_{k3+a}^{D,*} Z_{lb}^{D} + \lambda^{*} \sum_{b=1}^{3} Z_{kb}^{D,*} \sum_{a=1}^{3} Y_{d,ab} Z_{l3+a}^{D} \Big) \Big(Z_{i2}^{H} Z_{j3}^{H} + Z_{i3}^{H} Z_{j2}^{H} \Big)$$
(C.41)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{h_{i}h_{j}\tilde{e}_{k}\tilde{e}_{l}^{*}} = \frac{i}{2} \Big(\lambda \sum_{b=1}^{3} \sum_{a=1}^{3} Y_{e,ab}^{*} Z_{k3+a}^{E,*} Z_{lb}^{E} + \lambda^{*} \sum_{b=1}^{3} Z_{kb}^{E,*} \sum_{a=1}^{3} Y_{e,ab} Z_{l3+a}^{E} \Big) \Big(Z_{i2}^{H} Z_{j3}^{H} + Z_{i3}^{H} Z_{j2}^{H} \Big)$$
(C.42)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{h_{i}h_{j}\tilde{u}_{k\gamma}\tilde{u}_{l\delta}^{*}} = \frac{i}{2}\delta_{\gamma\delta} \Big(\lambda \sum_{b=1}^{3} \sum_{a=1}^{3} Y_{u,ab}^{*} Z_{k3+a}^{U,*} Z_{lb}^{U} + \lambda^{*} \sum_{b=1}^{3} Z_{kb}^{U,*} \sum_{a=1}^{3} Y_{u,ab} Z_{l3+a}^{U} \Big) \Big(Z_{i1}^{H} Z_{j3}^{H} + Z_{i3}^{H} Z_{j1}^{H} \Big)$$
(C.43)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{h_{i}H_{j}^{-}\tilde{u}_{k\gamma}\tilde{d}_{l\delta}^{*}} = i\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\delta_{\gamma\delta}\Big(\lambda Z_{j1}^{+,*}\sum_{b=1}^{3}\sum_{a=1}^{3}Y_{u,ab}^{*}Z_{k3+a}^{U,*}Z_{lb}^{D} + \lambda^{*}Z_{j2}^{+,*}\sum_{b=1}^{3}Z_{kb}^{U,*}\sum_{a=1}^{3}Y_{d,ab}Z_{l3+a}^{D}\Big)Z_{i3}^{H}$$
(C.44)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{h_iH_j^-\tilde{\nu}_k\tilde{e}_l^*} = i\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\lambda^* Z_{j2}^{+,*} \sum_{b=1}^3 Z_{kb}^{V,*} \sum_{a=1}^3 Y_{e,ab} Z_{l3+a}^E Z_{i3}^H$$
(C.45)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{h_{i}\tilde{d}_{j\beta}H_{k}^{+}\tilde{u}_{l\delta}^{*}} = i\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\delta_{\beta\delta}Z_{i3}^{H}\left(\lambda\sum_{b=1}^{3}\sum_{a=1}^{3}Y_{d,ab}^{*}Z_{j3+a}^{D,*}Z_{lb}^{U}Z_{k2}^{+} + \lambda^{*}\sum_{b=1}^{3}Z_{jb}^{D,*}\sum_{a=1}^{3}Y_{u,ab}Z_{l3+a}^{U}Z_{k1}^{+}\right)$$
(C.46)

$$\Delta\Gamma_{h_i\tilde{e}_jH_k^+\tilde{\nu}_l^*} = i\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\lambda\sum_{b=1}^3\sum_{a=1}^3 Y_{e,ab}^* Z_{j3+a}^{E,*} Z_{lb}^V Z_{i3}^H Z_{k2}^+ \tag{C.47}$$

$$\Delta\Gamma_{H_i^-H_j^-H_k^+H_l^+} = -i|\lambda|^2 \Big(Z_{i1}^{+,*} Z_{j2}^{+,*} + Z_{i2}^{+,*} Z_{j1}^{+,*} \Big) \Big(Z_{k1}^+ Z_{l2}^+ + Z_{k2}^+ Z_{l1}^+ \Big)$$
(C.48)

D The Higgs sector of the DiracNMSSM at the loop level

We give here some details of the calculation which are carried out by a combination of the public tools SARAH and SPheno.

To calculate the Higgs mass at the one-loop level, first the one-loop corrections to the tadpoles equations are needed. These are a sum of loops involving massive vector bosons and ghosts, standard model fermions, SUSY fermions, sfermions and Higgs fields:

$$\delta\Theta_i^{(1)} = \delta\Theta_i^{(1),V} + \delta\Theta_i^{(1),f} + \delta\Theta_i^{(1),\tilde{f}} + \delta\Theta_i^{(1),\chi} + \delta\Theta_i^{(1),\chi} + \delta\Theta_i^{(1),\phi}.$$
(D.1)

The explicit expression for all contributions read

$$\delta\Theta_{i}^{(1),V} = + 2A_{0}\left(m_{Z}^{2}\right)\Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},Z,Z} + A_{0}\left(m_{\eta^{-}}^{2}\right)\Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\bar{\eta^{-}},\eta^{-}} + A_{0}\left(m_{\eta^{+}}^{2}\right)\Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\bar{\eta^{+}},\eta^{+}} + A_{0}\left(m_{\eta^{Z}}^{2}\right)\Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\bar{\eta^{Z}},\eta^{Z}} + 4A_{0}\left(m_{W^{-}}^{2}\right)\Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},W^{+},W^{-}}$$
(D.2)

$$\delta\Theta_{i}^{(1),\phi} = -\sum_{a=1}^{2} A_{0} \left(m_{H_{a}^{-}}^{2}\right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},H_{a}^{+},H_{a}^{-}} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a=1}^{4} A_{0} \left(m_{A_{a}^{0}}^{2}\right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},A_{a}^{0},A_{a}^{0}} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a=1}^{4} A_{0} \left(m_{h_{a}}^{2}\right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},h_{a},h_{a}} \tag{D.3}$$

$$\delta\Theta_{i}^{(1),\chi} = + 2\sum_{a=1}^{2} A_{0} \left(m_{\tilde{\chi}_{a}^{-}}^{2}\right) m_{\tilde{\chi}_{a}^{-}} \left(\Gamma_{\tilde{h}_{i},\tilde{\chi}_{a}^{+},\tilde{\chi}_{a}^{-}}^{L} + \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_{i},\tilde{\chi}_{a}^{+},\tilde{\chi}_{a}^{-}}^{R}\right) \\ + \sum_{a=1}^{6} A_{0} \left(m_{\tilde{\chi}_{a}^{0}}^{2}\right) m_{\tilde{\chi}_{a}^{0}} \left(\Gamma_{\tilde{h}_{i},\tilde{\chi}_{a}^{0},\tilde{\chi}_{a}^{0}}^{L} + \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_{i},\tilde{\chi}_{a}^{0},\tilde{\chi}_{a}^{0}}^{R}\right)$$
(D.4)

$$\delta\Theta_{i}^{(1),\tilde{f}} = -\sum_{a=1}^{3} A_{0}\left(m_{\tilde{\nu}_{a}}^{2}\right)\Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\tilde{\nu}_{a}^{*},\tilde{\nu}_{a}} - 3\sum_{a=1}^{6} A_{0}\left(m_{\tilde{d}_{a}}^{2}\right)\Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\tilde{d}_{a}^{*},\tilde{d}_{a}} - \sum_{a=1}^{6} A_{0}\left(m_{\tilde{e}_{a}}^{2}\right)\Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\tilde{e}_{a}^{*},\tilde{e}_{a}} - 3\sum_{a=1}^{6} A_{0}\left(m_{\tilde{u}_{a}}^{2}\right)\Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\tilde{u}_{a}^{*},\tilde{u}_{a}}$$
(D.5)

$$\delta\Theta_{i}^{(1),f} = + 6\sum_{a=1}^{3} A_{0}\left(m_{d_{a}}^{2}\right) m_{d_{a}}\left(\Gamma_{\tilde{h}_{i},\tilde{d}_{a},d_{a}}^{L} + \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_{i},\tilde{d}_{a},d_{a}}^{R}\right) + 2\sum_{a=1}^{3} A_{0}\left(m_{e_{a}}^{2}\right) m_{e_{a}}\left(\Gamma_{\tilde{h}_{i},\tilde{e}_{a},e_{a}}^{L} + \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_{i},\tilde{e}_{a},e_{a}}^{R}\right) + 6\sum_{a=1}^{3} A_{0}\left(m_{u_{a}}^{2}\right) m_{u_{a}}\left(\Gamma_{\tilde{h}_{i},\tilde{u}_{a},u_{a}}^{L} + \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_{i},\tilde{u}_{a},u_{a}}^{R}\right)$$
(D.6)

with $\delta\Theta_1^{(1)} = \delta\Theta_d^{(1)}$, $\delta\Theta_2^{(1)} = \delta\Theta_u^{(1)}$, $\delta\Theta_3^{(1)} = \delta\Theta_s^{(1)}$, and $\delta\Theta_4^{(1)} = \delta\Theta_s^{(1)}$, and $\check{h} = (\phi_d, \phi_u, \phi_s, \phi_{\bar{s}})^T$. Here, chiral vertices are parametrized by $\Gamma^L P_L + \Gamma^R P_R$ with the projection operators $P_{L,R}$ and non-chiral vertices by Γ . The subscripts denote the involved particles. All necessary vertices and mass matrices for the DiracNMSSM are given in appendix B–C. Note, the rotation matrix corresponding to the external scalar has to be replaced by the identity matrix in these calculations. The finite part of the Passarino-Veltman integral A_0 is given by

$$A_0(m^2) = m^2 \left(1 - \ln \frac{m^2}{Q^2}\right)$$
 (D.7)

with the renormalisation scale Q which is chosen to be the average of the stop masses.

The one-loop corrections to the tadpoles are applied to find the new values of μ , $b\mu$, t_s , $t_{\bar{s}}$ which the vacuum conditions

$$\Theta_i + \delta \Theta_i^{(1)} = 0, \qquad i = d, u, s, \bar{s}.$$
 (D.8)

The second step is to calculate the self-energy matrix of the CP even Higgs

$$\Pi_{i,j}^{h}(p^{2}) = \Pi_{i,j}^{h,V}(p^{2}) + \Pi_{i,j}^{h,\phi}(p^{2}) + \Pi_{i,j}^{h,V\phi}(p^{2}) + \Pi_{i,j}^{h,\tilde{f}}(p^{2}) + \Pi_{i,j}^{h,f}(p^{2}) + \Pi_{i,j}^{h,\chi}(p^{2}).$$
(D.9)

The corrections stemming from vector bosons and ghosts are given

$$\Pi_{i,j}^{h,V}(p^{2}) = +2B_{0}\left(p^{2}, m_{Z}^{2}, m_{Z}^{2}\right)\Gamma_{\check{h}_{j},Z,Z}^{*}\Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},Z,Z} + 4
+ B_{0}\left(p^{2}, m_{W^{-}}^{2}, m_{W^{-}}^{2}\right)\Gamma_{\check{h}_{j},W^{+},W^{-}}\Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},W^{+},W^{-}}
- B_{0}\left(p^{2}, m_{\eta^{-}}^{2}, m_{\eta^{-}}^{2}\right)\Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\bar{\eta^{-}},\eta^{-}}\Gamma_{\check{h}_{j},\bar{\eta^{-}},\eta^{-}} - B_{0}\left(p^{2}, m_{\eta^{+}}^{2}, m_{\eta^{+}}^{2}\right)\Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\bar{\eta^{+}},\eta^{+}}\Gamma_{\check{h}_{j},\bar{\eta^{+}},\eta^{+}}
- B_{0}\left(p^{2}, m_{\eta^{Z}}^{2}, m_{\eta^{Z}}^{2}\right)\Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\bar{\eta^{Z}},\eta^{Z}}\Gamma_{\check{h}_{j},\bar{\eta^{Z}},\eta^{Z}}
+ 2A_{0}\left(m_{Z}^{2}\right)\Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\check{h}_{j},Z,Z} + 4A_{0}\left(m_{W^{-}}^{2}\right)\Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\check{h}_{j},W^{+},W^{-}}.$$
(D.10)

The corrections from Higgs scalars in the loops read

$$\begin{split} \Pi_{i,j}^{h,\phi}(p^2) &= -\sum_{a=1}^2 A_0 \left(m_{H_a}^2 \right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_i,\check{h}_j,H_a^+,H_a^-} + \sum_{a=1}^2 \sum_{b=1}^2 B_0 \left(p^2, m_{H_a}^2, m_{H_b^-}^2 \right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_j,H_a^+,H_b^-}^* \Gamma_{\check{h}_i,H_a^+,H_b^-} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a=1}^4 A_0 \left(m_{A_a^0}^2 \right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_i,\check{h}_j,A_a^0,A_a^0} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a=1}^4 A_0 \left(m_{h_a}^2 \right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_i,\check{h}_j,h_a,h_a} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a=1}^4 \sum_{b=1}^4 B_0 \left(p^2, m_{A_a^0}^2, m_{A_b^0}^2 \right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_j,A_a^0,A_b^0}^* \Gamma_{\check{h}_i,A_a^0,A_b^0} \\ &+ \sum_{a=1}^4 \sum_{b=1}^4 B_0 \left(p^2, m_{h_a}^2, m_{A_b^0}^2 \right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_j,h_a,A_b^0}^* \Gamma_{\check{h}_i,h_a,A_b^0} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a=1}^4 \sum_{b=1}^4 B_0 \left(p^2, m_{A_a^0}^2, m_{A_b^0}^2 \right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_j,h_a,A_b^0}^* \Gamma_{\check{h}_i,h_a,A_b^0} \end{split}$$
(D.11)

The mixed contributions involving scalars and vector bosons are given by

$$\Pi_{i,j}^{h,V\phi}(p^2) = +2\sum_{b=1}^2 \Gamma_{\check{h}_j,W^+,H_b^-}^* \Gamma_{\check{h}_i,W^+,H_b^-} F_0\left(p^2, m_{H_b^-}^2, m_{W^-}^2\right) +\sum_{b=1}^4 \Gamma_{\check{h}_j,Z,A_b^0}^* \Gamma_{\check{h}_i,Z,A_b^0} F_0\left(p^2, m_{A_b^0}^2, m_Z^2\right).$$
(D.12)

The corrections due to charginos and neutralinos read

$$\begin{aligned} \Pi_{i,j}^{h,\chi}(p^2) &= -2\sum_{a=1}^2 m_{\tilde{\chi}_a^-} \sum_{b=1}^2 B_0 \left(p^2, m_{\tilde{\chi}_a^-}^2, m_{\tilde{\chi}_b^-}^2 \right) m_{\tilde{\chi}_b^-} \left(\Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{\chi}_a^+, \tilde{\chi}_b^-}^{L*} \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{\chi}_a^+, \tilde{\chi}_b^-}^{R*} \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{\chi}_a^+, \tilde{\chi}_b^-}^{L} \right) \\ &+ \sum_{a=1}^2 \sum_{b=1}^2 G_0 \left(p^2, m_{\tilde{\chi}_a^-}^2, m_{\tilde{\chi}_b^-}^2 \right) \left(\Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{\chi}_a^+, \tilde{\chi}_b^-}^{L*} \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{\chi}_a^+, \tilde{\chi}_b^-}^{L} + \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{\chi}_a^+, \tilde{\chi}_b^-}^{R*} \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{\chi}_a^+, \tilde{\chi}_b^-}^{R} \right) \\ &- \sum_{a=1}^6 m_{\tilde{\chi}_a^0} \sum_{b=1}^6 B_0 \left(p^2, m_{\tilde{\chi}_a^0}^2, m_{\tilde{\chi}_b^0}^2 \right) m_{\tilde{\chi}_b^0} \left(\Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{\chi}_a^0, \tilde{\chi}_b^0}^{L*} \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{\chi}_a^0, \tilde{\chi}_b^0}^{R} + \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{\chi}_a^0, \tilde{\chi}_b^0}^{R*} \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{\chi}_a^0, \tilde{\chi}_b^0}^{L} \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a=1}^6 \sum_{b=1}^6 G_0 \left(p^2, m_{\tilde{\chi}_a^0}^2, m_{\tilde{\chi}_b^0}^2 \right) \left(\Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{\chi}_a^0, \tilde{\chi}_b^0}^{L*} \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{\chi}_a^0, \tilde{\chi}_b^0}^{L} + \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{\chi}_a^0, \tilde{\chi}_b^0}^{R} \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{\chi}_a^0, \tilde{\chi}_b^0}^{R} \right). \end{aligned} \tag{D.13}$$

The corrections due to Sfermions are

$$\Pi_{i,j}^{h,\tilde{f}}(p^{2}) = -\sum_{a=1}^{3} A_{0}\left(m_{\tilde{\nu}_{a}}^{2}\right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\check{h}_{j},\tilde{\nu}_{a}^{*},\tilde{\nu}_{a}} + \sum_{a=1}^{3} \sum_{b=1}^{3} B_{0}\left(p^{2}, m_{\tilde{\nu}_{a}}^{2}, m_{\tilde{\nu}_{b}}^{2}\right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\check{\nu}_{a}^{*},\tilde{\nu}_{b}} \Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\check{\nu}_{a}^{*},\tilde{\nu}_{b}} - 3\sum_{a=1}^{6} A_{0}\left(m_{\tilde{d}_{a}}^{2}\right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\check{h}_{j},\tilde{d}_{a}^{*},\tilde{d}_{a}} - \sum_{a=1}^{6} A_{0}\left(m_{\tilde{e}_{a}}^{2}\right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\check{h}_{j},\tilde{e}_{a}^{*},\tilde{e}_{a}} - 3\sum_{a=1}^{6} A_{0}\left(m_{\tilde{u}_{a}}^{2}\right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\check{h}_{j},\tilde{u}_{a}^{*},\tilde{u}_{a}} + 3\sum_{a=1}^{6} \sum_{b=1}^{6} B_{0}\left(p^{2}, m_{\tilde{d}_{a}}^{2}, m_{\tilde{d}_{b}}^{2}\right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_{j},\tilde{d}_{a}^{*},\tilde{d}_{b}} \Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\tilde{d}_{a}^{*},\tilde{d}_{b}} + \sum_{a=1}^{6} \sum_{b=1}^{6} B_{0}\left(p^{2}, m_{\tilde{e}_{a}}^{2}, m_{\tilde{e}_{b}}^{2}\right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_{j},\tilde{e}_{a}^{*},\tilde{e}_{b}} \Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\tilde{e}_{a}^{*},\tilde{e}_{b}} + 3\sum_{a=1}^{6} \sum_{b=1}^{6} B_{0}\left(p^{2}, m_{\tilde{u}_{a}}^{2}, m_{\tilde{u}_{b}}^{2}\right) \Gamma_{\check{h}_{j},\tilde{u}_{a}^{*},\tilde{u}_{b}} \Gamma_{\check{h}_{i},\tilde{u}_{a}^{*},\tilde{u}_{b}} .$$
(D.14)

And those stemming from SM fermions are

$$\begin{aligned} \Pi_{i,j}^{h,f}(p^2) &= -6\sum_{a=1}^{3} m_{d_a} \sum_{b=1}^{3} B_0 \left(p^2, m_{d_a}^2, m_{d_b}^2 \right) m_{d_b} \left(\Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{d}_a, d_b}^{L*} \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{d}_a, d_b}^R + \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{d}_a, d_b}^{R*} \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{d}_a, d_b}^L \right) \\ &+ 3\sum_{a=1}^{3} \sum_{b=1}^{3} G_0 \left(p^2, m_{d_a}^2, m_{d_b}^2 \right) \left(\Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{d}_a, d_b}^{L*} \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{d}_a, d_b}^L + \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{d}_a, d_b}^{R*} \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{d}_a, d_b}^R \right) \\ &- 2\sum_{a=1}^{3} m_{e_a} \sum_{b=1}^{3} B_0 \left(p^2, m_{e_a}^2, m_{e_b}^2 \right) m_{e_b} \left(\Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{e}_a, e_b}^{L*} \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{e}_a, e_b}^R + \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{e}_a, e_b}^R \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{e}_a, e_b}^L \right) \\ &+ \sum_{a=1}^{3} \sum_{b=1}^{3} G_0 \left(p^2, m_{e_a}^2, m_{e_b}^2 \right) \left(\Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{e}_a, e_b}^L \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{e}_a, e_b}^R + \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{e}_a, e_b}^R \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{e}_a, e_b}^R \right) \\ &- 6\sum_{a=1}^{3} m_{u_a} \sum_{b=1}^{3} B_0 \left(p^2, m_{u_a}^2, m_{u_b}^2 \right) m_{u_b} \left(\Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{u}_a, u_b}^L \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{u}_a, u_b}^R + \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{u}_a, u_b}^R \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{u}_a, u_b}^L \right) \\ &+ 3\sum_{a=1}^{3} \sum_{b=1}^{3} G_0 \left(p^2, m_{u_a}^2, m_{u_b}^2 \right) \left(\Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{u}_a, u_b}^L \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{u}_a, u_b}^R + \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_j, \tilde{u}_a, u_b}^R \Gamma_{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{u}_a, u_b}^R \right). \quad (D.15) \end{aligned}$$

The Passarino-Veltman integral B_0 can be expressed by

$$B_0(p, m_1, m_2) = -\ln\left(\frac{p^2}{Q^2}\right) - f_B(x_+) - f_B(x_-), \qquad (D.16)$$

with $f_B(x) = \ln(1-x) - x \ln(1-x^{-1}) - 1$, $x_{\pm} = \frac{s \pm \sqrt{s^2 - 4p^2(m_1^2 - i\varepsilon)}}{2p^2}$, and $s = p^2 - m_2^2 + m_1^2$. All appearing integrals can be expressed in terms of A_0 and B_0

$$B_{1}(p,m_{1},m_{2}) = \frac{1}{2p^{2}} \Big(A_{0}(m_{2}) - A_{0}(m_{1}) + (p^{2} + m_{1}^{2} - m_{2}^{2}) B_{0}(p,m_{1},m_{2}) \Big)$$
(D.17)

$$B_{22}(p,m_{1},m_{2}) = \frac{1}{6} \Big(\frac{1}{2} \Big(A_{0}(m_{1}) + A_{0}(m_{2}) \Big) + \Big(m_{1}^{2} + m_{2}^{2} - \frac{1}{2} p^{2} \Big) B_{0}(p,m_{1},m_{2})$$
$$+ \frac{m_{2}^{2} - m_{1}^{2}}{2p^{2}} \Big[A_{0}(m_{2}) - A_{0}(m_{1}) - (m_{2}^{2} - m_{1}^{2}) B_{0}(p,m_{1},m_{2}) \Big]$$
$$+ m_{1}^{2} + m_{2}^{2} - \frac{1}{3} p^{2} \Big)$$
(D.18)

$$F_0(p, m_1, m_2) = A_0(m_1) - 2A_0(m_2) - (2p^2 + 2m_1^2 - m_2^2)B_0(p, m_1, m_2),$$
 (D.19)

$$G_0(p, m_1, m_2) = (p^2 - m_1^2 - m_2^2)B_0(p, m_1, m_2) - A_0(m_1) - A_0(m_2) .$$
 (D.20)

In our numerical analysis the one-loop scalar Higgs masses are then calculated by taking the real part of the poles of the corresponding propagator matrices

Det
$$\left[p_i^2 \mathbf{1} - m_{1L}^{2,h}(p^2)\right] = 0$$
, (D.21)

where

$$m_{1L}^{2,h}(p^2) = \tilde{m}_T^{2,h} - \Pi_{hh}(p^2).$$
 (D.22)

Here, $\tilde{m}_T^{2,h}$ is the tree-level mass matrix from eq. (2.19) where the parameters obtained from the one-loop tadpole equations are inserted. Equation (D.21) has to be solved for each eigenvalue $p^2 = m_i^2$. The same procedure is also applied for the pseudo scalar Higgs bosons.

Dominant two-loop corrections. In addition to the full correction at one-loop we have also added the dominant two-loop corrections due to stops known from the MSSM presented in [76–79]. Because of the presence of these corrections, the renormalisation conditions eq. (D.8) are modified to

$$\Theta_i + \delta \Theta_i^{(1)} + \delta \Theta_i^{(2)} = 0, \qquad i = d, u \tag{D.23}$$

$$\Theta_i + \delta \Theta_i^{(1)} = 0, \qquad i = s, \bar{s} \tag{D.24}$$

and the 2-loop self-energy of the CP even Higgs takes the form

$$\Pi^{(2L)} = \begin{pmatrix} \Pi^{(2L),MSSM} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \end{pmatrix} .$$
 (D.25)

Here, **0** is a 2 × 2 matrix carrying only 0's, and $\Pi^{(2L),MSSM}$ are the two-loop MSSM self-energy contributions to the Higgs.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- ATLAS collaboration, Observation of a new particle in the search for the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 716 (2012) 1
 [arXiv:1207.7214] [INSPIRE].
- [2] CMS collaboration, Observation of a new boson at a mass of 125 GeV with the CMS experiment at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 716 (2012) 30 [arXiv:1207.7235] [INSPIRE].
- [3] L.J. Hall, D. Pinner and J.T. Ruderman, A Natural SUSY Higgs Near 126 GeV, JHEP 04 (2012) 131 [arXiv:1112.2703] [INSPIRE].

- [4] J.E. Camargo-Molina, B. O'Leary, W. Porod and F. Staub, Stability of the CMSSM against sfermion VEVs, JHEP 12 (2013) 103 [arXiv:1309.7212] [INSPIRE].
- [5] N. Blinov and D.E. Morrissey, Vacuum Stability and the MSSM Higgs Mass, JHEP 03 (2014) 106 [arXiv:1310.4174] [INSPIRE].
- [6] D. Chowdhury, R.M. Godbole, K.A. Mohan and S.K. Vempati, Charge and Color Breaking Constraints in MSSM after the Higgs Discovery at LHC, JHEP 02 (2014) 110 [arXiv:1310.1932] [INSPIRE].
- U. Ellwanger, C. Hugonie and A.M. Teixeira, The Next-to-Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model, Phys. Rept. 496 (2010) 1 [arXiv:0910.1785] [INSPIRE].
- U. Ellwanger and C. Hugonie, The upper bound on the lightest Higgs mass in the NMSSM revisited, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 22 (2007) 1581 [hep-ph/0612133] [INSPIRE].
- [9] E. Ma, Exceeding the MSSM Higgs Mass Bound in a Special Class of U(1) Gauge Models, Phys. Lett. B 705 (2011) 320 [arXiv:1108.4029] [INSPIRE].
- [10] Y. Zhang, H. An, X.-d. Ji and R.N. Mohapatra, Light Higgs Mass Bound in SUSY Left-Right Models, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 011302 [arXiv:0804.0268] [INSPIRE].
- [11] M. Hirsch, M. Malinsky, W. Porod, L. Reichert and F. Staub, *Hefty MSSM-like light Higgs in extended gauge models*, *JHEP* 02 (2012) 084 [arXiv:1110.3037] [INSPIRE].
- [12] M. Bastero-Gil, C. Hugonie, S.F. King, D.P. Roy and S. Vempati, Does LEP prefer the NMSSM?, Phys. Lett. B 489 (2000) 359 [hep-ph/0006198] [INSPIRE].
- [13] R. Dermisek and J.F. Gunion, Consistency of LEP event excesses with an h → aa decay scenario and low-fine-tuning NMSSM models, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 111701
 [hep-ph/0510322] [INSPIRE].
- [14] R. Dermisek, J.F. Gunion and B. McElrath, Probing NMSSM Scenarios with Minimal Fine-Tuning by Searching for Decays of the Upsilon to a Light CP-Odd Higgs Boson, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 051105 [hep-ph/0612031] [INSPIRE].
- [15] R. Dermisek and J.F. Gunion, The NMSSM Solution to the Fine-Tuning Problem, Precision Electroweak Constraints and the Largest LEP Higgs Event Excess, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 095006 [arXiv:0705.4387] [INSPIRE].
- [16] U. Ellwanger, G. Espitalier-Noel and C. Hugonie, Naturalness and Fine Tuning in the NMSSM: Implications of Early LHC Results, JHEP 09 (2011) 105 [arXiv:1107.2472]
 [INSPIRE].
- [17] M. Dine, N. Seiberg and S. Thomas, Higgs physics as a window beyond the MSSM (BMSSM), Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 095004 [arXiv:0707.0005] [INSPIRE].
- [18] S. Cassel, D.M. Ghilencea and G.G. Ross, Fine tuning as an indication of physics beyond the MSSM, Nucl. Phys. B 825 (2010) 203 [arXiv:0903.1115] [INSPIRE].
- [19] H.M. Lee et al., A unique Z_4^R symmetry for the MSSM, Phys. Lett. **B** 694 (2011) 491 [arXiv:1009.0905] [INSPIRE].
- [20] H.M. Lee et al., Discrete R symmetries for the MSSM and its singlet extensions, Nucl. Phys. B 850 (2011) 1 [arXiv:1102.3595] [INSPIRE].
- [21] G.G. Ross and K. Schmidt-Hoberg, The Fine-Tuning of the Generalised NMSSM, Nucl. Phys. B 862 (2012) 710 [arXiv:1108.1284] [INSPIRE].

- [22] G.G. Ross, K. Schmidt-Hoberg and F. Staub, The Generalised NMSSM at One Loop: Fine Tuning and Phenomenology, JHEP 08 (2012) 074 [arXiv:1205.1509] [INSPIRE].
- [23] A. Kaminska, G.G. Ross and K. Schmidt-Hoberg, Non-universal gaugino masses and fine tuning implications for SUSY searches in the MSSM and the GNMSSM, JHEP 11 (2013) 209 [arXiv:1308.4168] [INSPIRE].
- [24] A. Delgado, C. Kolda, J.P. Olson and A. de la Puente, Solving the Little Hierarchy Problem with a Singlet and Explicit μ Terms, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (2010) 091802 [arXiv:1005.1282] [INSPIRE].
- [25] A. Delgado, C. Kolda and A. de la Puente, Solving the Hierarchy Problem with a Light Singlet and Supersymmetric Mass Terms, Phys. Lett. B 710 (2012) 460 [arXiv:1111.4008]
 [INSPIRE].
- [26] S.A. Abel, S. Sarkar and P.L. White, On the cosmological domain wall problem for the minimally extended supersymmetric standard model, Nucl. Phys. B 454 (1995) 663
 [hep-ph/9506359] [INSPIRE].
- [27] K. Schmidt-Hoberg and F. Staub, Enhanced $h \rightarrow \gamma \gamma$ rate in MSSM singlet extensions, JHEP 10 (2012) 195 [arXiv:1208.1683] [INSPIRE].
- [28] K. Schmidt-Hoberg, F. Staub and M.W. Winkler, Enhanced diphoton rates at Fermi and the LHC, JHEP 01 (2013) 124 [arXiv:1211.2835] [INSPIRE].
- [29] E. Hardy, J. March-Russell and J. Unwin, Precision Unification in λ SUSY with a 125 GeV Higgs, JHEP 10 (2012) 072 [arXiv:1207.1435] [INSPIRE].
- [30] X. Lu, H. Murayama, J.T. Ruderman and K. Tobioka, A Natural Higgs Mass in Supersymmetry from Non-Decoupling Effects, Phys. Rev. Lett. 112 (2014) 191803 [arXiv:1308.0792] [INSPIRE].
- [31] S.F. King and P.L. White, Resolving the constrained minimal and next-to-minimal supersymmetric standard models, Phys. Rev. D 52 (1995) 4183 [hep-ph/9505326] [INSPIRE].
- [32] T. Elliott, S.F. King and P.L. White, Squark contributions to Higgs boson masses in the next-to-minimal supersymmetric standard model, Phys. Lett. B 314 (1993) 56
 [hep-ph/9305282] [INSPIRE].
- [33] T. Elliott, S.F. King and P.L. White, Radiative corrections to Higgs boson masses in the next-to-minimal supersymmetric Standard Model, Phys. Rev. D 49 (1994) 2435
 [hep-ph/9308309] [INSPIRE].
- [34] U. Ellwanger, Radiative corrections to the neutral Higgs spectrum in supersymmetry with a gauge singlet, Phys. Lett. B 303 (1993) 271 [hep-ph/9302224] [INSPIRE].
- [35] F. Franke and H. Fraas, Mass bounds for the neutral Higgs bosons in the next-to-minimal supersymmetric standard model, Phys. Lett. B 353 (1995) 234 [hep-ph/9504279] [INSPIRE].
- [36] G. Degrassi and P. Slavich, On the radiative corrections to the neutral Higgs boson masses in the NMSSM, Nucl. Phys. B 825 (2010) 119 [arXiv:0907.4682] [INSPIRE].
- [37] F. Staub, W. Porod and B. Herrmann, The electroweak sector of the NMSSM at the one-loop level, JHEP 10 (2010) 040 [arXiv:1007.4049] [INSPIRE].
- [38] T. Graf, R. Grober, M. Muhlleitner, H. Rzehak and K. Walz, Higgs Boson Masses in the Complex NMSSM at One-Loop Level, JHEP 10 (2012) 122 [arXiv:1206.6806] [INSPIRE].

- [39] K. Ender, T. Graf, M. Muhlleitner and H. Rzehak, Analysis of the NMSSM Higgs Boson Masses at One-Loop Level, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 075024 [arXiv:1111.4952] [INSPIRE].
- [40] J.R. Ellis, K. Enqvist, D.V. Nanopoulos and F. Zwirner, Observables in Low-Energy Superstring Models, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 1 (1986) 57 [INSPIRE].
- [41] R. Barbieri and G.F. Giudice, Upper Bounds on Supersymmetric Particle Masses, Nucl. Phys. B 306 (1988) 63 [INSPIRE].
- [42] D.M. Ghilencea and G.G. Ross, The fine-tuning cost of the likelihood in SUSY models, Nucl. Phys. B 868 (2013) 65 [arXiv:1208.0837] [INSPIRE].
- [43] K. Choi, K.S. Jeong, T. Kobayashi and K.-i. Okumura, Little SUSY hierarchy in mixed modulus-anomaly mediation, Phys. Lett. B 633 (2006) 355 [hep-ph/0508029] [INSPIRE].
- [44] K. Choi, K.S. Jeong, T. Kobayashi and K.-i. Okumura, TeV Scale Mirage Mediation and Natural Little SUSY Hierarchy, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 095012 [hep-ph/0612258] [INSPIRE].
- [45] H. Abe, T. Kobayashi and Y. Omura, Relaxed fine-tuning in models with non-universal gaugino masses, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 015002 [hep-ph/0703044] [INSPIRE].
- [46] O. Lebedev, H.P. Nilles and M. Ratz, A note on fine-tuning in mirage mediation, hep-ph/0511320 [INSPIRE].
- [47] D. Horton and G.G. Ross, Naturalness and Focus Points with Non-Universal Gaugino Masses, Nucl. Phys. B 830 (2010) 221 [arXiv:0908.0857] [INSPIRE].
- [48] M. Asano and T. Higaki, Natural supersymmetric spectrum in mirage mediation, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 035020 [arXiv:1204.0508] [INSPIRE].
- [49] S. Antusch, L. Calibbi, V. Maurer, M. Monaco and M. Spinrath, Naturalness of the Non-Universal MSSM in the Light of the Recent Higgs Results, JHEP 01 (2013) 187 [arXiv:1207.7236] [INSPIRE].
- [50] H. Abe, J. Kawamura and H. Otsuka, The Higgs boson mass in a natural MSSM with nonuniversal gaugino masses at the GUT scale, PTEP 2013 (2013) 013B02
 [arXiv:1208.5328] [INSPIRE].
- [51] M. Badziak, S. Krippendorf, H.P. Nilles and M.W. Winkler, The heterotic MiniLandscape and the 126 GeV Higgs boson, JHEP 03 (2013) 094 [arXiv:1212.0854] [INSPIRE].
- [52] I. Gogoladze, F. Nasir and Q. Shafi, Non-Universal Gaugino Masses and Natural Supersymmetry, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 28 (2013) 1350046 [arXiv:1212.2593] [INSPIRE].
- [53] T.T. Yanagida and N. Yokozaki, Focus Point in Gaugino Mediation Reconsideration of the Fine-tuning Problem, Phys. Lett. B 722 (2013) 355 [arXiv:1301.1137] [INSPIRE].
- [54] S. Krippendorf, H.P. Nilles, M. Ratz and M.W. Winkler, Hidden SUSY from precision gauge unification, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 035022 [arXiv:1306.0574] [INSPIRE].
- [55] E. Hardy, Is Natural SUSY Natural?, JHEP 10 (2013) 133 [arXiv:1306.1534] [INSPIRE].
- [56] A. Arvanitaki, M. Baryakhtar, X. Huang, K. van Tilburg and G. Villadoro, *The Last Vestiges of Naturalness*, *JHEP* 03 (2014) 022 [arXiv:1309.3568] [INSPIRE].
- [57] K. Benakli, M.D. Goodsell and F. Staub, Dirac Gauginos and the 125 GeV Higgs, JHEP 06 (2013) 073 [arXiv:1211.0552] [INSPIRE].

- [58] G. Bélanger, F. Boudjema, A. Pukhov and A. Semenov, MicrOMEGAs 2.0: A program to calculate the relic density of dark matter in a generic model, Comput. Phys. Commun. 176 (2007) 367 [hep-ph/0607059] [INSPIRE].
- [59] G. Bélanger, F. Boudjema, A. Pukhov and A. Semenov, MicrOMEGAs 2.0.7: A program to calculate the relic density of dark matter in a generic model, Comput. Phys. Commun. 177 (2007) 894 [INSPIRE].
- [60] G. Bélanger, F. Boudjema, A. Pukhov and A. Semenov, MicrOMEGAs: A tool for dark matter studies, Nuovo Cim. C 033N2 (2010) 111 [arXiv:1005.4133] [INSPIRE].
- [61] A. Semenov, LanHEP: A package for automatic generation of Feynman rules from the Lagrangian, Comput. Phys. Commun. 115 (1998) 124 [INSPIRE].
- [62] N.D. Christensen and C. Duhr, FeynRules Feynman rules made easy, Comput. Phys. Commun. 180 (2009) 1614 [arXiv:0806.4194] [INSPIRE].
- [63] F. Staub, From Superpotential to Model Files for FeynArts and CalcHep/CompHEP, Comput. Phys. Commun. 181 (2010) 1077 [arXiv:0909.2863] [INSPIRE].
- [64] F. Staub, Automatic calculation of supersymmetric renormalization group equations and self energies, Comput. Phys. Commun. 182 (2011) 808 [arXiv:1002.0840] [INSPIRE].
- [65] R.M. Fonseca, Calculating the renormalisation group equations of a SUSY model with Susyno, Comput. Phys. Commun. 183 (2012) 2298 [arXiv:1106.5016] [INSPIRE].
- [66] F. Lyonnet, I. Schienbein, F. Staub and A. Wingerter, PyR@TE: Renormalization Group Equations for General Gauge Theories, Comput. Phys. Commun. 185 (2014) 1130 [arXiv:1309.7030] [INSPIRE].
- [67] I. Jack, D.R.T. Jones and A.F. Kord, Snowmass benchmark points and three-loop running, Annals Phys. 316 (2005) 213 [hep-ph/0408128] [INSPIRE].
- [68] D.M. Pierce, J.A. Bagger, K.T. Matchev and R.-j. Zhang, Precision corrections in the minimal supersymmetric standard model, Nucl. Phys. B 491 (1997) 3 [hep-ph/9606211] [INSPIRE].
- [69] M.S. Carena, S. Pokorski and C.E.M. Wagner, On the unification of couplings in the minimal supersymmetric Standard Model, Nucl. Phys. B 406 (1993) 59 [hep-ph/9303202] [INSPIRE].
- [70] F. Staub, SARAH, arXiv:0806.0538 [INSPIRE].
- [71] F. Staub, SARAH 3.2: Dirac Gauginos, UFO output and more, Computer Physics Communications 184 (2013) pp. 1792–1809 [arXiv:1207.0906] [INSPIRE].
- [72] F. Staub, SARAH 4: A tool for (not only SUSY) model builders, Comput. Phys. Commun. 185 (2014) 1773 [arXiv:1309.7223] [INSPIRE].
- [73] W. Porod and F. Staub, SPheno 3.1: Extensions including flavour, CP-phases and models beyond the MSSM, Comput. Phys. Commun. 183 (2012) 2458 [arXiv:1104.1573] [INSPIRE].
- [74] W. Porod, SPheno, a program for calculating supersymmetric spectra, SUSY particle decays and SUSY particle production at e⁺e⁻ colliders, Comput. Phys. Commun. 153 (2003) 275 [hep-ph/0301101] [INSPIRE].
- [75] G. Degrassi, P. Slavich and F. Zwirner, On the neutral Higgs boson masses in the MSSM for arbitrary stop mixing, Nucl. Phys. B 611 (2001) 403 [hep-ph/0105096] [INSPIRE].

- [76] A. Brignole, G. Degrassi, P. Slavich and F. Zwirner, On the $O(\alpha_t^2)$ two loop corrections to the neutral Higgs boson masses in the MSSM, Nucl. Phys. B 631 (2002) 195 [hep-ph/0112177] [INSPIRE].
- [77] A. Brignole, G. Degrassi, P. Slavich and F. Zwirner, On the two loop sbottom corrections to the neutral Higgs boson masses in the MSSM, Nucl. Phys. B 643 (2002) 79
 [hep-ph/0206101] [INSPIRE].
- [78] A. Dedes and P. Slavich, Two loop corrections to radiative electroweak symmetry breaking in the MSSM, Nucl. Phys. B 657 (2003) 333 [hep-ph/0212132] [INSPIRE].
- [79] A. Dedes, G. Degrassi and P. Slavich, On the two loop Yukawa corrections to the MSSM Higgs boson masses at large tan beta, Nucl. Phys. B 672 (2003) 144 [hep-ph/0305127]
 [INSPIRE].
- [80] H. Dreiner, K. Nickel, W. Porod and F. Staub, Full 1-loop calculation of $BR(B^0_{s,d} \to \ell\bar{\ell})$ in models beyond the MSSM with SARAH and SPheno, Comput. Phys. Commun. 184 (2013) 2604 [arXiv:1212.5074] [INSPIRE].
- [81] F. Staub, T. Ohl, W. Porod and C. Speckner, A Tool Box for Implementing Supersymmetric Models, Comput. Phys. Commun. 183 (2012) 2165 [arXiv:1109.5147] [INSPIRE].
- [82] G. Bélanger, N.D. Christensen, A. Pukhov and A. Semenov, SLHAplus: a library for implementing extensions of the standard model, Comput. Phys. Commun. 182 (2011) 763 [arXiv:1008.0181] [INSPIRE].
- [83] A. Pukhov, CalcHEP 2.3: MSSM, structure functions, event generation, batchs and generation of matrix elements for other packages, hep-ph/0412191 [INSPIRE].
- [84] A. Belyaev, N.D. Christensen and A. Pukhov, CalcHEP 3.4 for collider physics within and beyond the Standard Model, Comput. Phys. Commun. 184 (2013) 1729 [arXiv:1207.6082]
 [INSPIRE].
- [85] M. Drees, H. Dreiner, D. Schmeier, J. Tattersall and J.S. Kim, CheckMATE: Confronting your Favourite New Physics Model with LHC Data, arXiv:1312.2591 [INSPIRE].
- [86] K. Sakurai, Progress Report from Atom/FastLim, (2013).
- [87] S. Kraml et al., SModelS: a tool for interpreting simplified-model results from the LHC and its application to supersymmetry, arXiv:1312.4175 [INSPIRE].
- [88] ATLAS collaboration, Search for squarks and gluinos with the ATLAS detector in final states with jets and missing transverse momentum and $20.3 fb^{-1}$ of $\sqrt{s} = 8 \text{ TeV}$ proton-proton collision data, ATLAS-CONF-2013-047 (2013).
- [89] CMS Collaboration, Search for supersymmetry in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV in events with three leptons and at least one b-tagged jet, CMS-PAS-SUS-13-008 (2013).
- [90] PLANCK collaboration, P.A.R. Ade et al., *Planck 2013 results. XVI. Cosmological* parameters, arXiv:1303.5076 [INSPIRE].
- [91] LUX collaboration, D.S. Akerib et al., First results from the LUX dark matter experiment at the Sanford Underground Research Facility, Phys. Rev. Lett. 112 (2014) 091303
 [arXiv:1310.8214] [INSPIRE].
- [92] CMS collaboration, K.A. Ulmer, Future Sensitivity Studies for Supersymmetry Searches at CMS at 14 TeV, arXiv:1310.0781 [INSPIRE].

- S.P. Martin and M.T. Vaughn, Two loop renormalization group equations for soft supersymmetry breaking couplings, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 2282 [Erratum ibid. D 78 (2008) 039903] [hep-ph/9311340] [INSPIRE].
- [94] Y. Yamada, Two loop renormalization group equations for soft SUSY breaking scalar interactions: Supergraph method, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 3537 [hep-ph/9401241] [INSPIRE].
- [95] R.M. Fonseca, M. Malinsky, W. Porod and F. Staub, Running soft parameters in SUSY models with multiple U(1) gauge factors, Nucl. Phys. B 854 (2012) 28 [arXiv:1107.2670] [INSPIRE].
- [96] M.D. Goodsell, Two-loop RGEs with Dirac gaugino masses, JHEP 01 (2013) 066 [arXiv:1206.6697] [INSPIRE].
- [97] M. Sperling, D. Stöckinger and A. Voigt, Renormalization of vacuum expectation values in spontaneously broken gauge theories, JHEP 07 (2013) 132 [arXiv:1305.1548] [INSPIRE].
- [98] M. Sperling, D. Stöckinger and A. Voigt, Renormalization of vacuum expectation values in spontaneously broken gauge theories: Two-loop results, JHEP 01 (2014) 068
 [arXiv:1310.7629] [INSPIRE].